White Paper

# for

# Past Trends and Future Projections of Air Quality and Health Implications in Different Countries/Cities







This study is carried by the research team led by Assoc. Prof. Steve Hung-Lam YIM from Earth Observatory of Singapore, Nanyang Technological University (NTU), Singapore with a collaboration with Ms. Yue Li and Dr. Tao Huang from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Acknowledgement: This study is funded by Prudential plc. Our team would like to thank the following for their support:

EOS:

Mr. Andrew Krupa, Dr. Lauriane Chardot

Prudential plc:

Diana Guzman, Yeoh El Lynn, Catherine Clark, Lee Takaki

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Prudential's objectives		
Executive summary		
1	Introduction11	
	1.1	Project Background11
	1.2	Objectives of the Study
2 Literature I		cature Review
	2.1	Past air pollution trend analysis
	2.2	Past emission status and control measures in East and Southeast Asia and African region 17
	2.3	Health impacts of exposure to the air pollutants in Southeast Asia and African region 19
3	Mate	erials and methods
	3.1	Air pollutant dataset for a trend analysis
	3.2	Emission dataset for a trend analysis
	3.3	Air pollutant dataset for a health implication analysis
	3.4	Land-use regression model for a health implication analysis in Hong Kong22
	3.5	El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO)
	3.6	Indian Ocean Dipole (IOD)
	3.8	Health impact assessment
	3.9	Uncertainties
4 Results		lts
	4.1	Trends of different air pollutants in the nine selected countries
	4.2	Spatial distribution of $PM_{2.5}$ in the nine selected countries during the past two decades33
	4.3	Episodes analysis in combination with ENSO and IOD in African regions
	4.4	Episodes analysis in combination with ENSO and IOD in Southeast Asia41
	4.5	Human health impacts of PM <sub>2.5</sub>
5	Conc	clusion
6	Refe	rence64

# **PRUDENTIAL'S OBJECTIVES:**

According to the World Health Organisation, climate change affects the social and environmental determinants of health including clean air, safe drinking water, sufficient food and secure shelter. Between 2030 and 2050, approximately 250,000 additional deaths per year from malnutrition, malaria, diarrhoea and heat stress are expected to occur. Reducing emissions of greenhouse gases through decarbonisation efforts can result in improved health, particularly through reduced air pollution.

Prudential's objectives for this research are to:

- a. Continue to expand our focus on the intersection of climate change and health;
- b. Contribute to wider public policy discussions on the health impacts of climate change; and
- c. Drive meaningful conversations with government using science-based research.

In summary, we want to better understand the impacts of climate change on air quality and its associated public health impacts in different countries over a long period by systematically reviewing past studies and assessing long-term air quality trends based on robust, science-based data. This will not only help form the basis of future assessments of effective management and mitigation of climate change, particularly air pollution, but also help us identify areas for potential product innovation, including digital tools, or enhancements to health and protection products.

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

# Air pollution is a complex problem affecting millions of people around the world each year

Air pollution has drawn attention from all around the world due to its pervasiveness, harm to the environment, and potential health dangers (Bickerstaff, 2004). Numerous studies conducted in the past have reported the worsening of global air quality, particularly in developing countries (Han and Naeher, 2006; Thuong et al., 2022).

The United Nations Environment Programme has highlighted that air pollution is a critical environmental and public health concern. Air pollution has been also identified as the biggest environmental health risk of our time (Desai, 2017). Long-term exposure to air pollution can cause severe respiratory diseases, lung cancer, cardiovascular disease and premature death. A recent study reported that 8.8 million people worldwide die each year due to air pollution. The report by the World Bank published in 2022 estimates that the cost of the health damage caused by air pollution amounts to \$8.1 trillion a year, equivalent to 6.1% of global GDP (Lelieveld et al., 2019; Lim et al., 2020; Lončar et al., 2022).

Air pollution is a complex issue influenced by a range of factors that can be broadly categorised as emission-related and climate-related.

- Emission-related factors are diverse and include natural and human-made activities such as burning of fossil fuels, household fires, road traffic and deforestation, which are often linked to urbanisation and economic development.
- Climate-related factors include different types of atmospheric activities, such as the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) and the Indian Ocean Dipole (IOD), which can affect winds and rainfalls and the distribution of air pollutants.

Air pollutant emissions are an important source of air pollution. Increase in global population, industrialization and land cover changes i.e., urbanization are reported to be the critical contributors to degradation of air quality. During the past few decades, numerous countries have worked hard to develop emission reduction technology and set specific air quality standards (Pai et al., 2022). The World Health Organization (WHO) has issued global air quality guidelines since 1987 for controlling global air pollution and associated mortality. These guidelines were subsequently updated in 1997, 2005 and 2021. Nevertheless, annual fine particulate matter ( $PM_{2.5}$ ) exposure levels in many countries are still significantly higher than the 2005 WHO annual guidelines of  $10 \mu g/m^3$  (WH, 2005). According to the latest update of the WHO's air quality guidelines, the standard for annual  $PM_{2.5}$  exposure is limited to 5  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, which means that the majority of the global population lives in polluted areas (World Health Organization, 2021). In 2021, WHO revealed that Southeast Asia, Africa and the Eastern Mediterranean are the most severely affected air pollution hotspots globally. The data demonstrate that only 17% of the 117 countries in the three regions analysed have air quality that meets the WHO air quality guidelines for particulate matter (PM), and that these countries are primarily high-income countries (World Health Organization, 2021). In stark contrast, less than 1% of low- and middle-income countries have air quality that meets the recommended WHO thresholds for small particles, thus, urgent action is required to address this issue.

Air pollution is also closely linked to climate change. Air pollutants and greenhouse gases often come from same sources. Any greenhouse gases emission policies may have co-effect on air quality. Also, changes in climate can influence air quality. For example, warmer atmosphere may enhance the ozone formation (Adame et al., 2022). The Fifth Assessment Report of IPCC shows that climate change will primarily exacerbate existing health problems by 2050 and that the populations currently most affected by climate-related diseases will also be at greatest risk in the future (Barros et al., 2017). Although public health and climate change adaptation have appeared in medical literature and related reports before, the intersection between these two areas of research has received less attention to date. This is because the incidence of climate change impacts on health is complex (Paavola, 2017).

Air pollution can vary over different timescales and across seasons. Due to the spatial diversity, some areas may experience more severe pollution than others. Additionally, air pollution can be transboundary, with pollutants moving across borders and affecting neighbouring countries.

The complexity of air pollution has yet to be fully understood. This calls for a comprehensive study to systematically understand the recent and current situation status of the air pollution, and the relationships between air pollutant emission sources, air pollution and health impact based on holistic datasets. Given these diverse factors that contribute to air pollution, each country/region has its own unique set of characteristics and health impacts. These should be better evaluated.

# Local assessment of air pollution among countries/city reveals common main drivers but different effects on human health depending on countries/city.

This report assesses the air quality and the resultant health impacts in the recent two decades (2000-2020) in Hong Kong and nine countries, namely Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Thailand, Vietnam, Côte d'Ivoire, Nigeria and Kenya. A preliminary assessment is also provided for Hong Kong and the full assessment will be completed in the next phase of the project. This study aims for providing useful references for policy formulation, and thus target to provide air pollution information as detailed as possible.

For each country and territory studied, this report first presents a review of historical records of air quality and health impacts related to  $PM_{2.5}$ , black carbon (BC) and organic carbon (OC), which are the important indicators of air quality. The following section presents the air quality trend analyses of each studied location as a function of time and space in relation to climate events and emission control measures. The report also estimates health impacts of exposure to the studied air pollutants in terms of premature deaths due to diseases including cardiovascular diseases such as stroke, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and ischemic heart disease (IHD), lower respiratory infections (LRI) and lung cancer (LC).

The data used in this report are from open sources and widely used in air pollution studies. The data include global reanalysis of aerosol with spatial and temporal distributions (Modern-Era Retrospective analysis for Research and Applications, Version 2, MERRA2), emissions data from the Community Emissions Data System and the Hong Kong Air Pollutant Emission Inventory, modelled effect of ENSO, IOD and effect of pollution on health, population data from The WorldPop Open Repository and health data from the Global Health Data Exchange.

Given the diverse factors that contribute to air pollution, each country and city studied in this report has its own unique set of characteristics and challenges for their air pollution issues. The main results of each country/territory are summarized as follows.

# • Nigeria (Africa)

Nigeria has experienced high  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration over the last 20 years with an annual average of 50 µg/m<sup>3</sup>. The trend of  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration shows a clear seasonality, showing the higher  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in the dry season (January and February). Anthropogenic biomass burning is the major direct source of air pollution in this region followed by households, transportation and industry. In addition to local sources, the northern region is more vulnerable to dust storms from the Sahara Desert and natural grassland fire sources. The total number of all-cause premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  exposure in Nigeria in the last 20 years was 2,669,142 (95% UI: 1,953,013 - 3,232,595). LRI, stroke and IHD were the top three diseases to the resultant premature deaths. The total number of premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Nigeria remained at a high level. Therefore, more effective emission control measures are required to be implemented in Nigeria, especially in the northern region that is affected not only by local emissions, but also by transboundary air pollution.

#### • <u>Côte d'Ivoire (Africa)</u>

The average annual concentration in Côte d'Ivoire was 50  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> over the recent two decades. Côte d'Ivoire shares the same arid climate as Nigeria and is heavily impacted by large amounts of mineral dust from the Sahel and Sahara, as well as by human-induced biomass burning. The main sources of air pollutant emissions in Côte d'Ivoire are the residential, transportation and industrial sectors. Côte d'Ivoire has a clear north-south pattern of PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration, with a higher PM<sub>2.5</sub> level in the north (up to about 35  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> in 2020). In addition, air quality in Côte d'Ivoire has become better during the last two decades, with maximum PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration in the north decreasing from 45  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> in 2000 to 35  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> in 2020. The trend of PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration in Côte d'Ivoire has a clear seasonality, with January and February being the dry season. The total number of all-cause premature deaths due to PM<sub>2.5</sub> exposure in Côte d'Ivoire over the past 20 years is 182,301 (95% UI: 109,381-243,133). LRI, stroke, and IHD are the top three diseases contributing to the resultant premature deaths. There is a clear upward trend in the total number of deaths and incidence caused by PM<sub>2.5</sub> in Côte d'Ivoire. Therefore, Côte d'Ivoire is suggested to reduce air pollution in the region, especially in the north, by controlling anthropogenic emissions.

#### • Kenya (Africa)

 $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in Kenya had less fluctuation over the past 20 years, but a distinct episode occurred in the winter of 2008. The PM<sub>2.5</sub> episode coincided with the strong La Niña event in 2008, during which the ocean surface in the central and eastern tropical Pacific was cooler, rainfall in eastern Africa decreased significantly and easterly winds along the equator became stronger, favouring the long-range transport and accumulation of pollutants in the country. Rapid urbanisation with the corresponding increase in vehicle ownership and the continued use of solid fuels as an energy source have also contributed to the deterioration of air quality in Kenya. The  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in some parts of Nairobi (such as the industrial areas) has been at dangerously high levels since the 1980s, exceeding the WHO guidelines. Kenya shows an upward trend in negative health impacts due to PM<sub>2.5</sub>, both in premature deaths and incidence of various diseases. Over the past 20 years, the total number of all-cause premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  exposure in Kenya was 250,427 (95% UI: 150,456-333,581) and the incidence was 8,618 (95% UI: 4,048-12,524) (in thousands). In Kenya, stroke was the largest contributor to premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . In addition, there was a clear trend of simultaneous increase in the total number and incidence of premature deaths due to PM<sub>2.5</sub> in Kenya from 2000 to 2020. Therefore, the air quality in Kenya remains serious.

#### • Indonesia (Southeast Asia)

Indonesia showed an average of annual PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration of 10.33  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> from 2000 to 2020. The  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in Indonesia showed significant episodes in September 2002 (48.05  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>), October 2006 (62.00 µg/m<sup>3</sup>), October 2015 (42.90 µg/m<sup>3</sup>), and September 2019 (30.70 µg/m<sup>3</sup>). There was an increasing trend for all emissions in Indonesia, especially an accelerating trend for SO<sub>2</sub> and NO<sub>x</sub>. PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration in Indonesia tended to be higher in northern Sumatra and Riau, mainly due to the effects of frequent wildfires (up to about 35  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> in 2020). The two PM<sub>2.5</sub> peaks in the fall of 2002 and 2015 may be associated with simultaneous El Niño and positive IOD, whereas the other two PM<sub>2.5</sub> peaks in 2002 and 2009 corresponded to positive IOD. In Indonesia, a total of 3,165,156 (95% UI: 2,013,987 - 4,111,831) premature deaths due to PM<sub>2.5</sub> occurred during the study period. Stroke, IHD, and COPD were the top three diseases. As for the total incidence, attributable to PM<sub>2.5</sub> exposure, it is estimated that PM<sub>2.5</sub> caused 45,158 (95% UI: 21,651-65,242) (in thousands) all-cause incidence in Indonesia over the past 20 years. There was a clear upward trend in the total number of premature deaths and incidence due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . Therefore, Indonesia is suggested to implement more effective measures to mitigate the impact SO<sub>2</sub> and NO<sub>x</sub> emissions on air quality by controlling emissions from the energy and transportation sectors, as well as to improve control and early warning of wildfires.

#### • Malaysia (Southeast Asia)

The average of annual PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration in Malaysia during the study period was 10.33  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>. with significant episodes in September 2002 (26.21  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>), September 2006 (22.65  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>), August 2009 (21.30  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>), September 2015 (41.31  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>) and September 2019 (40.82  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>). In Malaysia, transportation was a significant source of air pollution which involved different modes of transportation such as road, rail, air and sea. Anthropogenic emissions of BC and NO<sub>x</sub> were mainly from the transportation sector, whereas OC and  $SO_2$  emissions were mainly from the residential and energy sectors. Air pollutant concentration tended to be higher in Peninsular Malaysia than in East Malaysia in Borneo (peak  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration can reach around 25  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> in 2010). Southerly winds in the summer months of June to August provided favorable meteorological conditions for the long-range transport of PM<sub>2.5</sub> from Sumatra northward to Peninsular Malaysia. As another typical maritime country in Southeast Asia, Malaysia is also strongly affected by ENSO and IOD. The two episodes in the fall of 2002 and 2015 coincided with the simultaneous occurrence of ENSO and positive IOD, whereas the two other episodes in 2006 and 2019 coincided with the occurrence of positive IOD. At the same time, the dry climate has led to an increase in wildfires and deteriorating air quality. The combined effects of ENSO and positive IOD exacerbated air quality there, making the climate drier and with less rainfall. During the study period, a total of 275,167 (95% UI: 156,142-374,230) premature deaths were attributed to PM<sub>2.5</sub> in Malaysia. IHD, stroke, and LRI were the top three diseases to the premature deaths due to PM2.5. Our results show a clear and consistent upward trend in the total number of premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  and the incidence of each disease in Malaysia. Therefore, the Malaysia government is suggested to implement additional measures to control emissions from the transportation sector and to improve air quality monitoring network to monitor of the impact of atmospheric activities on air quality.

#### • Singapore (Southeast Asia)

In Singapore, the average of annual  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration over the past 20 years was 15.70 µg/m<sup>3</sup>. There were five significant episodes of  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in October 2002, September 2006, September 2009, September 2015 and September 2019, with monthly average PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration of 33.70  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, 42.02  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, 22.54  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, 61.83  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, and 51.91  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively. Singapore has experienced a significant upward trend in total anthropogenic emissions of BC and OC over the past 20 years, while total  $SO_2$  emissions have shown a downward trend. Due to the small size of Singapore, the spatial distribution of air pollution varied marginally and was more susceptible to influences from neighbouring countries. Singapore is strongly affected by both ENSO and IOD. The two episodes in the fall of 2002 and 2015 coincided with the simultaneous occurrence of ENSO and positive IOD, and the other two episodes in 2006 and 2019 coincided with positive IOD. Meanwhile, Singapore is often severely affected by haze and wildfires. The combined effects of El Niño and positive IOD result in a drier climate and less rainfall, causing serious transboundary haze. During the study period, a total of 27,424 (95% UI: 15,495-37,410) premature deaths in Singapore were attributed to PM<sub>2.5</sub>. IHD, stroke and LRI were the top three diseases to the premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . In Singapore, premature deaths and incidence due to  $PM_{2.5}$  fluctuated widely with six distinct waves during the recent two decades. Five of which corresponded to high pollution weather caused by El Niño and positive IOD events. Therefore, to mitigate the premature deaths due to PM.5, more effort is suggested to address transboundary haze issue in Singapore.

#### • <u>Philippines (Southeast Asia)</u>

The Philippines showed an average of annual PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration level of 9.68  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> during the recent two decades, which is comparable to the global average. Over the past two decades, anthropogenic emissions of BC and SO<sub>2</sub> in the Philippines showed a decreasing trend until 2011. In the Philippines, air pollution was more severe in the northern city of Manila, which was mainly associated with vehicle emissions. The maximum PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration in the Philippines remained around 35-40  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, with the highest value occurring in 2010. The Philippines is surrounded by sea in Southeast Asia and thus influenced by complex climate variability. The combined effects of El Niño and positive IOD exacerbated the serious PM<sub>2.5</sub> pollution levels in the country in 2015,

whereas the effects were not significant in 2002. In addition, air pollution in the Philippines was more influenced by individual positive IOD events rather than individual El Niño events. The total number of all-cause premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in the Philippines over the past 20 years was estimated to be 988,137 (95% UI: 1632,566-1,282,200). In terms of total incidence, a total of 25,559 (95% UI: 12,430-36,714) (in thousands) were attributable to  $PM_{2.5}$ , with LRI being the largest contributor to the premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . There was a significant upward trend in the total number and incidence of premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in the Philippines over the past 20 years. Therefore, the government is suggested to focus more on addressing traffic emissions in the northern part of the Philippines.

#### • Thailand (Southeast Asia)

Thailand is one of the countries in mainland Southeast Asia with annual average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentrations below 20 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, while its BC concentration was relatively high (1.12 µg/m<sup>3</sup>). In Thailand, emissions of air pollutants except SO<sub>2</sub> have been increasing in the last 20 years. Air pollution in Thailand was severe in the northern and north-eastern cities, due to exposure to air pollutant emissions of agricultural activities and forest fires. There was no significant relationship between ENSO or IOD events and changes in air pollution in Thailand. The total number of all-cause premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Thailand was estimated to be 830,045 (95% UI: 563,218-1,049,959), and the number of incidence was 15,900 (95% UI: 8,258-22,310) (in thousands) in the past 20 years. In Thailand, stroke was the largest contributor to premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . There was a clear and continuous upward trend in the total number of premature deaths and incidence due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Thailand over the past 20 years. Thailand, especially its the northern part, still suffered from air pollution and thus needs to focus on improving the agricultural and transportation structures of the region to mitigate the associated air pollutant emissions.

# • Vietnam (Southeast Asia)

During the past 20 years, the average of annual PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration in Vietnam was below 20  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, whereas the BC concentration level was relatively high (1.13  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>). Similar to Thailand, Vietnam is located in mainland Southeast Asia. Emissions of all air pollutants in Vietnam showed an accelerating trend, but the annual average PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration showed the opposite trend. Air pollution in Vietnam was severe in the northern and north-eastern cities due to emissions of agricultural activities and forest fires. There was no significant relationship between ENSO or IOD events and changes in air pollution in Vietnam. The total number of all-cause premature deaths due to PM<sub>2.5</sub> in Vietnam over the past 20 years as estimated to be 1,618,314 (95% UI: 1,158,436-1,993,307) with incidence of 20,397 (95% UI: 11,178-28,032) (in thousands). In Vietnam, stroke was the largest contributor to premature deaths due to PM<sub>2.5</sub> with a total of 929,435 (95% UI: 692,191-1,119,425) premature deaths. In terms of the variations in health outcomes during the study period, the total number of premature deaths and incidence due to PM<sub>2.5</sub> in Vietnam showed a significant upward trend in the past 20 years. Hence, Vietnam particularly its northern area still experienced air pollution. The country is thus suggested to put more effort to enhance its transportation and agricultural infrastructures to reduce the associated air pollutant emissions.

# • Hong Kong (China)

Hong Kong experienced air pollution. Local emissions are the key contributor to the air pollution in the city. Road transportation is a particularly important emitter leading to serious roadside air pollution. Transboundary air pollution is another important contributor to local air pollution. The transboundary air pollution can be enhanced by La Niña. While the emission, topography and weather of Hong Kong are complicated, the corresponding analysis requires more time to be completed. The full analysis results for Hong Kong will be presented in the second phase.

# <u>Next steps</u>

Numerous datasets such as those in the report (emissions, meteorology, mapping of air pollutants, health outcomes) should be further improved in detail, monitored in the long-term and shared so that this study can be updated in a few years to assess progress.

Given the transboundary nature of air pollution, cooperation between different countries within ASEAN and across the world should be maintained and improved as appropriate.

Reporting of progress is recommended so that progress against UN SDGs, especially Goal 3, 7, 11 and 13, can be measured and directions undertaken to reach the goals by 2030.

#### INTRODUCTION

1

#### 1.1 Project Background

Long-term exposure to ambient air pollution has been reported to increase the risk of developing respiratory disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), lung cancer and cardiovascular disease (CVD), as well as other health problems that might be related to premature deaths (Anenberg et al., 2011; Gu et al., 2018; Southerland et al., 2022). A recent study has reported that 8.8 million people worldwide die each year due to air pollution, indicating that the PM<sub>2.5</sub> problem is a global challenge (Lelieveld et al., 2019; Lim et al., 2020). A growing number of epidemiological studies on air pollution in recent years have evaluated exposure levels using a variety of models and techniques, from macroscope to microscope (Bauwelinck et al., 2022; Glasgow et al., 2016; Zou et al., 2009). Despite the fact that many countries are aware of the issue and have taken steps in lessening air pollution, exposure assessment studies on this topic in developing countries are still limited, especially in some countries of Africa and Southeast Asia (Han and Naeher, 2006; Thuong et al., 2022).

The largest-ever data released by World Health Organization (WHO) reveals that Southeast Asia, Africa, and the Eastern Mediterranean are the world's air pollution hotspots (WHO, 2021). The data show that only 17% of the 117 studied countries had air quality meeting the recently updated WHO air quality guidelines for particulate matter (PM), and these countries are mainly in high-income countries. By contrast, less than 1% of low- and middle-income countries with WHO recommended thresholds for small particles (Goshua et al., 2022). These pinpoint the important spatial heterogeneity of air pollution particularly in low- and middle-income countries. In Southeast Asia, air pollution is primarily caused by two potential sources: one is biomass burning and volcanic activities that can easily be intensified by El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO), whereas the other one is human activity (Sakti et al., 2023). Although summer monsoon precipitation variability in East Asia is mainly regulated by ENSO events (Wu et al., 2009), Indian Ocean Dipole (IOD) has also been found to significantly influence summer precipitation in Southeast Asia (Yang et al., 2010). IOD events begin with anomalous cooling of sea surface temperature (SST) along the Sumatra-Java coast in the eastern Indian Ocean during May-June (Feng and Meyers, 2003), which affects the climate of Australia and other countries surrounding the Indian Ocean Basin, and it is also a significant contributor to rainfall variability in these regions (N. Saji and Yamagata, 2003; Saji et al., 1999). In West Africa, biomass burning is a large direct source of air pollution, which predominates in dry seasons (Wu et al., 2022). Previous studies have confirmed that the population in West African region has continued to grow at about 2% per year in recent years. This population trend indicated that anthropogenic emissions was the main source of pollution in the region (Keita et al., 2018; Knippertz et al., 2015). Hence, specific, and scientific analysis methodologies are needed to assess and evaluate air quality in different regions by combining different chemical components of emissions over a long period.

#### Nigeria (Africa)

The ambient air quality (lead, particulate matter, nitrogen oxides, sulfur dioxide, volatile organic compounds) observed in Nigeria fails to fulfil the WHO air quality standards, clearly indicating the unsafe levels and the attendant health risks (Osuji and Avwiri, 2005). Air pollution has a direct impact on the health of the local population, especially among the rural population in Nigeria (Nwachukwu et al., 2012).

#### Côte d'Ivoire (Africa)

According to a study on the environment and epidemiology in 2014, high levels of gaseous and particulate air pollution in Abidjan (city of Côte d'Ivoire) are mainly from household fires and traffic. These emissions and their associated deaths and morbidity are likely to increase over the next decade unless action is taken to regulate the sources of emissions (Becerra et al., 2020).

#### Kenya (Africa)

Rapid urbanisation, the corresponding increase in vehicle ownership, and the continued use of solid fuels as an energy source have contributed to the deterioration of air quality in Kenya. PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration in some parts of Nairobi (such as industrial areas) has been at dangerously high levels since the 1980s, exceeding the WHO guidelines (deSouza, 2020).

#### Indonesia (Southeast Asia)

Southeast Asia accounts for approximately 15% of the world's tropical forests. Most of the forests are in Indonesia, where peatland fires are the world's leading  $CO_2$  emitters (Jaenicke et al., 2008; Stibig et al., 2014). El Niño amplifies the impact of wildfires, for example, during the El Niño period in 1997 - 1998, the extensive wildfires in Indonesia released around 0.95 Gt of carbon (Page et al., 2002). Large wildfires also occurred in Indonesia during the 2002 and 2006 El Niño events. The average annual  $CO_2$  emissions from peatland fires in Indonesia reached 1.4-4.3 Gt from 1997 to 2006, equivalent to 19-60% of the global average annual carbon emissions from fossil (Hooijer et al., 2006).

# Malaysia (Southeast Asia)

Malaysia is the major contributor to pollutant emissions in Southeast Asia, just below Indonesia and Thailand, where the main sources of air pollution are the increased demand of motor vehicles and rapid industrialisation (Sentian et al., 2019). Besides, over the years, the air quality in Malaysia has suffered from transboundary haze caused by forest fires outside the country. In 2005 and 2013, higher air pollution records were measured in Malaysia due to the regional haze problems (Forsyth, 2014).

# Singapore (Southeast Asia)

Singapore is a highly urbanised country in Southeast Asian, which suffers from the seasonal exposure to transboundary haze (Ho et al., 2019). Singapore's haze problem usually coincides with the dry season from July to September, when the southwest monsoon transfers haze from forest fires outside the country (Vadrevu et al., 2014). During the haze exposure period, the load of particulate matter and other aerosol pollutants in the atmosphere increases (Wiggins et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2015).

#### Philippines (Southeast Asia)

Air pollution in Manila mainly comes from mobile sources, power plants and industrial plants, whereas most of the hazardous pollutants in Manila come from transportation or mobile sources (Krupnick et al., 2003). Data from the Land Transportation Office (LTO) show that the number of registered motor vehicles in Manila increased by 16.41% in 1990 compared to 1989. Of these, only 16% were new vehicles and the rest were older vehicles. 73.4% were gasoline vehicles, whereas 25.2% were diesel vehicles (Gallardo, 2008).

# Thailand (Southeast Asia)

Thailand's air pollution has reached unsafe levels due to its fast economic growth and the construction of petrochemical facilities since 2006. (Guo et al., 2014). Due to rapid

economic development and urbanisation, Bangkok has experienced serious air pollution problems. The main source of air pollution in Bangkok is vehicle emissions. The  $PM_{10}$  emissions of vehicles accounts for more than 30% of the total  $PM_{10}$  emissions in the country (Chuersuwan et al., 2008).

#### Vietnam (Southeast Asia)

Forest biomass burning in north-western Vietnam affects air quality in Hanoi during the peak Ultraviolet Aerosol Index (UVAI) in March and April. BC in Hanoi peaked in December and January, especially during December 2013 and January 2014, and wind patterns suggest that pollutants during this period were mainly transported from large urban areas in southern China. Serious pollution events were observed in Hanoi. In addition to this, BC concentration was significantly higher at night than during the day, with peaks generally after 21:00 local time (Lasko et al., 2018).

#### Hong Kong (Southeast Asia)

In Hong Kong, La Niña enhances air pollution levels to a certain extent (Yim et al., 2019). Massive levels of PM emissions from biomass burning, which can have a regional or global impact on climate. The major aerosols produced by biomass combustion are organic carbon (OC) and black carbon (BC) (Yin et al., 2019). Many studies have demonstrated that transboundary air pollution is an important contributor to air pollution in Hong Kong, which has caused a great concern due to its significant role in air quality (Gu et al., 2018; Gu and Yim, 2016; Huang et al., 2021).

#### 1.2 Objectives of the Study

This project focuses on nine countries and one city, including Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Thailand, Vietnam, Côte d'Ivoire, Nigeria, Kenya, and Hong Kong (China). Our analyses target to assess the air quality changes and the resultant health impacts in the recent two decades (2000-2020). Three objectives are designed as follows:

• To review historical records of air quality and health impacts

A systemic literature review is conducted to review air quality and health assessment studies in the studied countries/cities in the recent two decades. The literature review includes global, regional, country and even local studies. The targeted air pollutants include particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter  $\leq 2.5 \mu m$  (PM<sub>2.5</sub>), black carbon (BC) and organic carbon (OC). Past emission control measures related to the studied air pollutants are discussed, whereas past studies assessing the air pollution-attributable health impacts in the studied countries/cities are summarised.

• To analyse trend of air quality in studied countries/city

Past trends of air quality in the aforementioned countries/city in the recent two decades are analysed. Any climate/weather events are incorporated into the analyses to explain the past trend. Moreover, based on the literature review results, past implemented emission control measures are considered to explain the past changes in the concentration levels of the air pollutants. In addition, the spatial distribution of the air pollutants is assessed.

• To estimate health impacts of exposure to the studied air pollutants in terms of deaths and incidence

The health impacts of air pollutant exposure are evaluated in term of premature deaths and morbidity. This project estimates the premature deaths due to the diseases including cardiovascular diseases (CVD), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), ischemic heart disease (IHD), and lung cancer (LC). With the estimated health impact results, this project describes the trend of the health impacts during the past two decades. Similar to air quality trend analyses, past climate/weather events and emission control measures are considered in this health impact assessment.

#### 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

The purpose of the literature review is to establish a comprehensive understanding regarding the past trend of air pollutants of the selected nine countries and a city in the recent two decades. This review mainly collects the information from peer-review journal papers, government reports, and other relevant scientific documents.

#### 2.1 Past air pollution trend analysis

A long-term trend analysis study of global air pollution shows that  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration tended to increase in most developing countries (such as countries in Asia, South America, and sub-Saharan Africa) between 1998 and 2016, whereas the  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration tended to decrease in developed countries.  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration is strongly correlated with the increase in total population in India and sub-Saharan Africa (Lim et al., 2020). Moreover, the trend of  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration from 2000 to 2019 varied between different regions. Africa was the region with the largest decrease in annual average concentration from 43 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2000 to 35 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2019 (Southerland et al., 2022). In contrast, Southeast Asia showed the largest average increase in air pollution concentration, with urban population-weighted average concentration increasing by 27% over the last two decades (from 49 µg/m<sup>3</sup> to 62 µg/m<sup>3</sup>). Intra-regional variation was evident in both regions.

Official air quality monitoring data are lacking or unavailable in most Economic Community of West African States, such as Kenya, which is one of the selected countries in this study (deSouza, 2020; Mir Alvarez et al., 2020). Thus, studies of long-term pollution trends in Africa are very limited.

#### Nigeria (Africa)

 $PM_{2.5}$  level in Nigeria is as high as 125  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, well above recommended levels and the world average (Urhie et al., 2020). Sonibare and Jimoda (2009) observe an increasing trend of air pollution in densely populated cities in Nigeria such as Lagos, Abuja, and Port Harcourt in 2009.

#### Côte d'Ivoire (Africa)

A 14-year aerosol fingerprint impact study conducted in Daloa, Côte d'Ivoire shows that the aerosol optical depth (AOD) increased from 0.8 to 1.3 between 2000 and 2010. Seasonal variations were detected during the study period, with AOD increasing from January to April and decreasing from October to December in Daloa (Emetere et al., 2019).

#### Kenya (Africa)

PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration in Nairobi, Kenya was found to consistently elevate during 2014-2015, with slightly elevated values during dry periods (Kirago et al., 2022).

#### Indonesia (Southeast Asia)

Siregar et al. (2022) measured long-term (2000-2007)  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in Indonesia based on satellite-derived aerosol optical depth measurements. The study reported that air quality of Sumatra has been deteriorating, from a low of 8.71 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2000 to a high of 17.48 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2006.

#### Malaysia (Southeast Asia)

A study conducted by Rahman et al. examined long-term air pollution in the capital city of Malaysia. The average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in the study area consistently exceeded the annual standard (15  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>) of the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) during the study period 2002 to 2011, with an average of 25  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>. Higher PM<sub>2.5</sub>

concentration levels were found in 2002, 2005, and 2006, which may be due to regional haze pollution.

#### Singapore (Southeast Asia)

The air quality in Singapore was affected from transboundary haze over the years. Research reported that the transboundary haze was caused by forest fires from Indonesia. During 1991-1994, total suspended particulate matter (TSP) levels peak at certain moments. For example, the peak in June 1991 was associated with the eruption of Mount Pinatubo, and the peak in mid-August to early November 1991 was mainly influenced by forest fires in Indonesia (Chew et al., 1999). Singapore experienced another severe haze between August and October 1994, when PM<sub>10</sub> levels increased sharply and atmospheric ozone levels exceeded the US EPA ozone standard, also due to transboundary pollution from large forest fires in parts of Sumatra and Kalimantan (Awang et al., 2000). In 2005 and 2013, higher air pollution records were measured in Singapore due to the haze problems outside the country (Forsyth, 2014).

# Philippines (Southeast Asia)

Previous studies reported that  $PM_{2.5}$  concentrations in urban areas in the Philippines consistently exceeded the WHO guideline. In Philippines, air quality in summer is better because the summer southwest monsoon brings relatively heavy precipitation to most of the archipelago during May through October. The northeast winter monsoon is generally associated with lower precipitation amounts. So, during the dry season, the average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration at traffic sites in Metro Manila can reach 58.4 µg/m<sup>3</sup> (Tantengco and Guinto, 2022). Air quality is worse in the northern Philippines, especially in Luzon, where the port of Manila is located at, which is highly influenced by polluted air masses from the southern part of Taiwan's highly industrialized region (Tseng et al., 2021).

# Thailand (Southeast Asia)

A study of long-term pollution trends in Bangkok, Thailand reported that about half of the monitoring stations showed a slight decrease in  $PM_{10}$  concentration from 2006 to 2016, which may indicate that Bangkok's strategies to address long-term urban  $PM_{10}$  issues, such as strengthening fuel and vehicle standards and monitoring mobile sources in Bangkok, are being effectively implemented. (Chirasophon and Pochanart, 2020). However, in 2017, the average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in the Bangkok still exceeded the Thailand standard of 50  $\mu g/m^3$  in 24 hours (http://air4thai.pcd.go.th/webV2/download\_book.php? bookid=33(in Thai)).

# Vietnam (Southeast Asia)

As the most populated city in Vietnam, Ho Chi Minh City had air quality deteriorating rapidly over the past 20 years due to increases in its anthropogenic emissions (Nguyen et al., 2022). During 2014-2017, the daily level of PM<sub>10</sub> in Ho Chi Minh City was 74  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, which was lower than the standard of the Vietnamese National Technical Regulation on Ambient Air Quality (150  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>), but higher than the European Air Quality Standard or the WHO guidelines (50  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>). The number of days exceeding the Vietnamese national standard was 36 days, or 2.5% of the study period, while the number of days exceeding the WHO standard guidelines was 1126 days, or 79% of the study period. PM<sub>10</sub>, NO<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>3</sub> levels were higher in the dry season than in the rainy season (Phung et al., 2016).

# Hong Kong (Southeast Asia)

Ambient  $PM_{2.5}$  in Hong Kong showed different trends before and after 2005. There was an increasing trend in PM before 2005 with average  $PM_{10}$  and  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration of 51.4

 $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> and 34.2  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> in 2005, respectively. From 2006-2016, the PM concentration started to decline ; nevertheless the lowest annual average PM concentration observed in 2016 was still higher than the WHO guideline value (Liao et al., 2018).

# 2.2 Past emission status and control measures in East and Southeast Asia and African region

While pollutant emissions in Europe and North America have been declining over the past 20 years, energy consumption in Asia continued to increase since 2003 (Klimont et al., 2013; Ohara et al., 2007). All air pollutant emissions in Asia increased significantly over the past 60 years, with relatively large growth rates for SO<sub>2</sub>, NO<sub>x</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>, and relatively small growth rates for CO, PM<sub>10</sub>, PM<sub>2.5</sub>, BC and OC (Kurokawa and Ohara, 2020). Emissions of nitrogen oxides in East Asia increased by 15-25% between 2005 and 2010 (Wang et al., 2014). Consumption of fossil fuels in Southeast Asia has grown strongly since 1980. According to International Energy Agency report in 2013, electricity demand in Southeast Asia is projected to be 83% higher in 2035 than it was in 2011 (Engels et al., 2018). A study of AOD and carbonaceous aerosols (OC and BC) in Southeast Asia found that the increasing trend of OC may be related to the increase of vegetation during 1985-2015, whereas the decreasing trend of BC may be related to the decrease of the number of fires in Southeast Asia (Kalita et al., 2020).

Rapid population growth has been accompanied by a dramatic increase in anthropogenic emissions, resulting in more serious pollution emissions in Africa (Liousse et al., 2014). West Africa is the highest emitting region in Africa, accounting for 29% of Africa's total emissions in 2015, followed by East Africa accounting for 25%. West Africa showed the fastest growth (reaching 117%) of BC emissions during 1990-2015 compared to other regions, which may be due to the higher population growth rate in West Africa (Keita et al., 2021).

#### Nigeria (Africa)

In Africa, combustion of solid waste was identified as a major source of emission within cities in Nigeria (Sulaymon et al., 2020). In Lagos, Nigeria, the average annual emissions of sulfur dioxide increased from a maximum of 0.21 kilotons in 2007 to a maximum of 2.28 kilotons in 2016. Similarly, the carbon monoxide emission rate increased from 12.22 kilotons/year to 144.99 kilotons/year (Fakinle et al., 2020).

#### Côte d'Ivoire (Africa)

Dynamic-Aerosol-Chemical-Cloud Interaction in West Africa (DACCIWA) programme shows that  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in Abidjan was 2 to 10 times higher than the WHO standards, (Adon et al., 2020).  $PM_{10}$  concentration was the highest in neighbourhoods without paved roads in Abidjan and Korhogo, while  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration was the highest in locations affected by traffic or wood from household fires. Abidjan and Korhogo showed a strong association between particulate matter concentration and emissions in residential areas. In Abidjan, air pollutants were more susceptible to the intensity of road traffic. In Korhogo, the use of firewood and the resuspension of dust increased the aerosol levels, especially at night (Gnamien et al., 2021a).

#### Kenya (Africa)

Furthermore, the average concentration values of BC in Nairobi, Kenya were comparable to those obtained in Asia and North America, but OC concentration exceeded those of cities in the northern hemisphere, ranging from 4 to 39  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> (Gatari and Boman, 2003). To reduce air pollution and climate emissions, environment, and energy ministers from all 15 Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) countries adopted a

comprehensive set of regulations to introduce cleaner fuels and vehicles in 2020 (https://www.unep.org/news-and-stories/story/west-african-ministers-adopt-cleaner-fuels-and-vehicles-standards).

#### Indonesia (Southeast Asia)

Indonesia's national strategic plan document expressed the goal of reducing forest burning area and zero burning of solid waste to control biomass open burning (Setiawan et al., 2016). Pollutant emissions in Southeast Asia originated not only from local biomass burning but also from frequent forest fires, such as emissions from forest fires in Sumatra and Kalimantan, which caused severe transboundary haze pollution in the region (Keywood et al., 2003). This phenomenon has become a regular feature in Southeast Asia during the dry season from February to April and June to September (Rahman et al., 2015). In the early 1990s, the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) members started collaborating to combat air pollution from forest fire, especially in Borneo and Sumatra. This collaboration culminated in the ASEAN Transboundary Haze Pollution Agreement in November 2003 (Jones, 2006).

# Malaysia (Southeast Asia)

Air quality in Malaysia was seriously threatened by haze events in Southeast Asia in 1983, 1984, 1991, 1994 and 1997. As a result, the Malaysian government has developed air quality guidelines, air pollution index and haze action plans to improve air quality in response (Department of the Environment, 1996). Air quality monitoring reports in Malaysia indicated that suspended particulate matter (SPM) and nitrogen dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>) were the main pollutants. Air pollution mainly came from land traffic, industrial emissions, and open burning sources. Among them, land traffic contributed the most to air pollution (Afroz et al., 2003).

# Singapore (Southeast Asia)

Power supply is a crucial component of the national economy in Singapore, one of most industrialised and urbanised nations in Southeast Asia. Singapore generates electricity almost exclusively from natural gas and imported oil. Singapore started using natural gas to produce power in 1992 as part of a strategy to diversify its energy sources. In 1993, around 16 % of all electricity was produced using natural gas. Natural gas has seen a sharp increase in utilisation recently, accounting for nearly 61 % of all energy produced in 2003 (Kannan et al., 2007). In Singapore, the building sector is the third largest emitter, accounting for about 16% of Singapore's total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of 40,377 tonnes in 2005. Most of the electricity used in buildings in Singapore is used for air conditioning (40-50%), mechanical ventilation (~20%) and lighting (15-20%) (Kua and Wong, 2012).

#### Philippines (Southeast Asia)

Anthropogenic air pollution is the most major issue in all primarily industrialised nations. Hazardous compounds in the air can arise from both anthropogenic and natural sources. Mobile or regional sources of air pollution are categorised. There were established types of laws with regulatory aimed to safeguard the environment in the Philippines, such as the Clean Air Act, which called for comprehensive policies and strategies to control air quality to ensure and preserve clean air for all Filipinos (Macatangay and Hernandez, 2020).

#### Thailand (Southeast Asia)

Thailand is one of the main emitters in Southeast Asia (Permadi et al., 2018). Several relevant measures have been recommended. For example, in Thailand, Chotichanathawewong and Thongplew proposed measures focusing on energy efficiency and maximum feasible emission reduction in key sectors such as the cement and steel industries in 2012.

#### Vietnam (Southeast Asia)

Ho Chi Minh City (HCMC) is the largest and most populous city in Vietnam. Air pollution became a major problem in the city and had a significant impact on the quality of life of its residents. The main source of air pollution in the urban area of HCMC is the large number of motor vehicle emissions, which account for a large proportion of the total air pollutants (carbon monoxide, 90%; hydrocarbons, 60%; nitrogen oxides, 50%. Monitoring results at road stations in Ho Chi Minh City show that the level of suspended particulate matter was always 2-6 times higher than the allowed concentration level (Phung et al., 2016).

#### Hong Kong (East Asia)

In Hong Kong, Liao et al. (2016) found that total carbon showed a significant decreasing trend from 1995 to 2016, especially after 2001, with an annual decrease of  $-0.54 \,\mu g/m^3/year$  from 15.8  $\mu g/m^3$  in 2001 to 6.6  $\mu g/m^3$  in 2016.

# 2.3 Health impacts of exposure to the air pollutants in Southeast Asia and African region

From 2000 to 2020, the premature death rate due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Southeast Asia increased by 33%, while cities in Africa experienced the greatest decline, with a 40% reduction. The global average urban premature death rate due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in 2019 was approximately 61 per 100,000 inhabitants. The regional averages of Africa were below the global urban average whereas the Western Pacific and Southeast Asia averages were above the global urban average (Southerland et al., 2022).

In Southeast Asia, the average annual number of premature deaths caused by  $PM_{2.5}$  increased by 38% from 1999 to 2014, with stroke and IHD being the two major contributors, accounting for 39% and 35% of the total, respectively. High values were concentrated in the metropolitan areas of Southeast Asia except for North India, Bangladesh (Shi et al., 2018).

In addition, excess deaths in adults, new-borns, and children due to  $PM_{2.5}$  were high in emerging and middle-income countries in Africa and South Asia. In 2012, approximately 97.6% of the South African population was exposed to  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration levels above the 2005 WHO guidelines (10 µg/m<sup>3</sup>). From 2000 to 2012, the number of deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  rose from 15,619 to 19,507, an increase of 25%; while the number of deaths due to ozone pollution increased by 31% (Roomaney et al., 2022). The State of Global Air 2019 report revealed that air pollution was the eighth leading risk factor for premature death in Kenya, with nearly 19,000 deaths in 2017, 5,000 of which were due to ambient air pollution and the rest due to indoor pollution (https://www.stateofglobalair.org/).

#### Nigeria (Africa)

In the African countries of Niger, Chad and Nigeria, 59%, 55% and 54% of excess deaths occurred in children and new-borns (Chowdhury et al., 2022). Nwachukwu et al., (2012) studied the impact of air pollution on diseases among the people of Rivers State, Nigeria by analysing data from the Nigerian National Ministry of Health and National Ambient Air Quality. Their study reported that a total of 30,435 cases of diseases were reported from 2003 to 2008, of which 61 patients died. A number of diseases prevalent in the study area (e.g., tuberculosis, pneumonia, chronic bronchitis, and upper respiratory tract infection (URT)) were significantly correlated with air pollution (Nwachukwu and Ugwuanyi, 2010).

#### Côte d'Ivoire (Africa)

A study of different sources of air pollution in neighbourhoods within Abidjan (the city of Côte d'Ivoire) found that household cooking fires, garbage burning, and vehicle emissions were associated with the incidence of specific diseases. The study estimated that by

reducing annual  $PM_{2.5}$  emissions to meet the WHO standards, the hospitalisation rates could be reduced by 3.6% for people living near garbage burning sites, 3.8% for those living near heavy traffic, and up to 24.9% for those living near high levels of home fire emissions (Maesano et al., 2018).

#### Kenya (Africa)

A study on indoor air pollution and acute respiratory infections from biomass burning in Kenya found acute respiratory infections and acute lower respiratory infections as an increasing concave function of average daily exposure to  $PM_{10}$ , with the rate of increase accelerating when exposed to  $PM_{10}$  at concentrations below 1000-2000 µg/m<sup>3</sup> (Ezzati and Kammen, 2001).

#### Indonesia (Southeast Asia)

Previous studies have shown that air pollution is currently responsible for 50% of the morbidity in Indonesia and the overall rate is expected to increase by 26% by 2030 (Haryanto, 2018; Haryanto and Franklin, 2011). In addition, long-term exposure to higher levels of  $PM_{2.5}$  has a greater chance of having CVD, especially in women and the elderly (Siregar et al., 2022).

#### Malaysia (Southeast Asia)

A previous study in Malaysia on the possible health effects of the 1997 forest fires found that the number of outpatient clinics increased two to three times during the peak smoke haze period in Kuching, Sarawak (Afroz et al., 2003). There was an increase in the number of respiratory outpatient clinics from 250 to 800 per day in the Kuala Lumpur General Hospital, and some major hospitals in Kuala Lumpur also saw an increase in asthma, acute respiratory infections, and conjunctivitis during August-September 1997 (Brauer and Hisham-Hashim, 1998). In terms of respiratory diseases, Selangor and Sarawak recorded a significant increase in the total number of cases during the September haze. In addition, the daily incidence of conjunctivitis in Sarawak in September was found to be positively correlated with  $PM_{10}$  concentration. In Malaysia, short-term exposure to high levels of  $PM_{10}$  is harmful to human health, particularly affecting children, the elderly, and people with respiratory problems the most (Awang et al., 2000).

#### Singapore (Southeast Asia)

Ho et al. (2020) studied the effect of air pollution on mortality in Singapore and demonstrated a significant association between increased Pollutants Standards Index (PSI) and mortality, especially in the short term, where PSI in the very unhealthy range had a detrimental effect on mortality. This may be due to the fact that PSI mainly affected the frail population, and the depletion of this writing population led to a reduction in potential mortality after a few days, thus temporarily reducing the impact of PSI (Yeo et al., 2014). Previous studies in Singapore have also shown an increase in haze-related inpatient and outpatient visits (e.g., respiratory illnesses) during haze periods (Emmanuel, 2000).

#### Philippines (Southeast Asia)

The Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation reported that the Philippines was one of the ten nations with the highest burden of air pollution-related mortality, with 64,000 deaths in 2019 and a predicted rise in the following years (Macatangay and Hernandez, 2020).

#### Thailand (Southeast Asia)

In Bangkok, from January 2006 to December 2014, increased in 10  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> in O<sub>3</sub>, NO<sub>2</sub>, SO<sub>2</sub>, PM<sub>10</sub>, and CO at a lag of 0-1 days were associated with increases in cardiovascular admissions of 0.14%, 1.28%, 8.42%, 1.04%, and 6.69%, respectively; and respiratory

admissions of 0.69%, 1.42%, 4.49%, 1.18%, and 7.69%, respectively. Older adults ( $\geq$ 65 years) appear to be the most vulnerable group to air pollution (Phosri et al., 2019).

#### Vietnam (Southeast Asia)

In Ho Chi Minh City, changes in NO<sub>2</sub> and PM<sub>10</sub> levels were strongly associated with hospital admissions for respiratory and CVD; SO<sub>2</sub> levels were only moderately associated with respiratory and CVD admissions, while O<sub>3</sub> concentration was not associated with either of these. The risk of respiratory admission increased from 0.7% to 8% and the risk of CVD admission increased from 0.5% to 4% for each 10  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> increase in each air pollutant. The study found that women were more sensitive to air pollutants than men with respect to respiratory disease. The risk of hospital admission for cardiovascular disease from NO<sub>2</sub> exposure was slightly higher in women than in men. In contrast, men had a higher risk of hospital admission for cardiovascular disease due to PM<sub>10</sub> exposure than women (Phung et al., 2016).

# Hong Kong (East Asia)

In Hong Kong, both health risk and mortality burden have shown a continuous decreasing trend in recent years (2001-2016), which may be associated with relevant air pollution control measures (Liao et al., 2018). The beneficial population health improvements of reducing air pollution in Hong Kong have been confirmed by Hedley et al. (2002). Their study reported a 2.0%, 3.9%, and 2.1% reduction in cardiovascular, respiratory, and all-cause deaths, respectively, in the first 12 months after the implementation of fuel sulfur content limits in Hong Kong.

# 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 3.1 Air pollutant dataset for a trend analysis

In this study, regional surface  $PM_{2.5}$ , BC, and OC concentration data were obtained from monthly Modern-Era Retrospective Analysis for Research and Applications, version 2 (MERRA-2) dataset managed by NASA. Compared with previous version (MERRA-1), MERRA-2 is the latest version of global atmospheric reanalysis for the satellite era produced by NASA Global Modeling and Assimilation Office (GMAO) using the Goddard Earth Observing System Model (GEOS) version 5.12.4 (GMAO, 2015). Other applications of MERRA-2 dataset can be found in (Stauffer et al., 2018; Fang et al., 2020; Yim et al., 2022). This dataset was monthly data starting from January 2000 to December 2020, with a spatial resolution of  $0.5^{\circ} \times 0.625^{\circ}$ . It should be noted that monthly rainfall data was also derived from MERRA-2 dataset.

# **3.2** Emission dataset for a trend analysis

Emission data was obtained from the Community Emissions Data System (CEDS), which produces consistent estimates of global air emissions species (BC, OC, NO<sub>x</sub>, SO<sub>2</sub>, NH<sub>3</sub>) since 1750. Detailed information can be found in Hoesly et al. (2018). Emission data in Hong Kong was derived from Hong Kong Air Pollutant Emission Inventory, which can be found in Environmental Protection Department (EPD) official website (https://www.epd.gov.hk/epd/english/top.html).

# 3.3 Air pollutant dataset for a health implication analysis

The annual high-resolution ground-level  $PM_{2.5}$  data for a health implications analysis was derived from a hybrid dataset from the Atmospheric Composition Analysis Group at Washington University in St. Louis, with a high spatial resolution of  $0.01^{\circ} \times 0.01^{\circ}$  (van Donkelaar et al., 2021). This data estimated  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration from 1998 to 2021 by combining Aerosol Optical Depth (AOD) retrievals from the NASA MODIS, MISR, and SeaWIFS instruments with the GEOS-Chem chemical transport model, and then calibrating to global ground-based observations using a Geographically Weighted Regression (GWR).

#### 3.4 Land-use regression model for a health implication analysis in Hong Kong

Since the high spatial resolution  $(0.01^{\circ} \times 0.01^{\circ})$  dataset was gridded at the finest spatial resolution of the incorporated information sources, the PM<sub>2.5</sub> gradient at the gridded resolution may not be fully resolved due to the influence of coarser resolution information sources. Therefore, the PM<sub>2.5</sub> data for Hong Kong was replaced by the predicted results from the more explanatory land-use regression (LUR) model in order to improve the accuracy and interpretability. Detailed information of LUR model building and evaluation can be found in previous research (Li et al., 2022; Nduka et al., 2022).

# 3.5 El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO)

One of the mostly utilised ENSO index is the Oceanic Niño Index (ONI) from NOAA. It was defined as the 3-month moving mean of sea surface temperature anomaly index in Niño 3.4 region (5°N to 5°S, 150°W to 90°W). In this study, an ENSO event was defined as five consecutive ONI in boreal winter at or above + 1 for El Niño and at or below – 1 for La Niña during 2000 to 2020. Neutral period was defined as  $-0.5 \le \text{ONI} \le 0.5$ .

# 3.6 Indian Ocean Dipole (IOD)

Monthly Dipole Mode Index (DMI) was used in this study to characterise Indian Ocean Dipole (IOD) from 2000 to 2020. The Index represents the anomalous SST gradient between the western equatorial Indian Ocean ( $50^{\circ}E - 70^{\circ}E$  and  $10^{\circ}S - 10^{\circ}N$ ) and the Southeastern equatorial Indian Ocean ( $90^{\circ}E - 110^{\circ}E$  and  $10^{\circ}S - 0^{\circ}N$ ), and was calculated at NOAA/PSL using the HadISST1.1 SST dataset (Ashok et al., 2001; N. H. Saji and Yamagata, 2003). Following the definition in Hague 2021, Positive (negative) IOD events were identified when the three-month running mean DMI was + 0.4°C or above ( $-0.4^{\circ}C$  or below) for at least three consecutive months between June and November. Neutral period was defined when the DMI is sustained between  $-0.4^{\circ}C$  and  $0.4^{\circ}C$ .

#### **3.7** Gridded population data

Gridded population data in this study used The WorldPop Open Repository (WOPR) dataset, which provides gridded population estimates for individual countries from 2000 to 2020 at a spatial resolution of 3 arc (~ 100m). Detailed methodology used to estimate the population can be found in Lloyd et al. (2019). It should be noted that the spatial resolution of the final population data was aggregated to  $0.01^{\circ} \times 0.01^{\circ}$  to satisfy the resolution of air pollution data to fit the IERs model.

#### 3.8 Health impact assessment

The death and incidence rate can be obtained in GBD 2019 through the Global Health Data Exchange (GHDx) query tool (http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-results-tool), which is an online query tool of GBD 2019. Data of cases and the rates were reported as numbers with 95% uncertainty intervals (UIs). This study estimated the burden due to PM<sub>2.5</sub> for lower respiratory infections (LRI), Tracheal, bronchus, and lung cancer, Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), Stroke, and ischemic heart disease (IHD). Age modification was applied to calculate the relative risk (RR) for IHD and Stroke as described in previous epidemiological study (Burnett et al., 2014). We applied integrated exposure-response functions (IERs) developed by Burnett et al. (2014) and updated by Cohen et al. (2017) to estimate the global relative risk for each disease due to PM<sub>2.5</sub>. Population-attributable fraction (PAF) was used to estimate the health outcomes E (Mansournia and Altman, 2018). The formulas are show as follows:

$$RR(z) = 1, z < z_{fc} , \qquad (1)$$

$$RR(z) = 1 + \alpha \cdot \left(1 - exp(-\beta \cdot (z - z_{fc})^{\delta}), z \ge z_{fc},\right)$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

$$E = \Sigma_k (RR_k - 1) / RR_k \cdot f_k \cdot P_k , \qquad (3)$$

where  $z_{fc}$  is counterfactual scenario of theoretical minimum risk exposure level (TMREL) below which we assumed there is no additional risk. TMREL for each pollutant was defined in Cohen et al. (2017); *k* refers to the index of the domain grid; *P* refers to the population size based on various population datasets, and f refers to the baseline death and incident rate.  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\delta$  were estimated using nonlinear regression.

#### **3.9** Uncertainties

The uncertainty of health impact estimations included air pollutant estimations and empirical coefficients adopted in the IER model. Uncertainty calculation in air pollution estimation was presented in the hybrid dataset, which was represented by the range of PM<sub>2.5</sub> values obtained from the variation between individual AOD datasets or the common uncertainty, including the sensitivity of the GWR-based adjustment to monitor selection. The uncertainties of IER model came from the parameters ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\delta$ ) in the RR calculation. Uncertainties for these parameters were obtained by the central estimation of fitted functions with 95% UIs based on GBD calculations. The ultimate uncertainty was estimated based on the mean and 95% UIs of the effective distribution.

#### 4 **RESULTS**

#### 4.1 Trends of different air pollutants in the nine selected countries

This sub-section aims to analyse the trends of annual average concentration levels of air pollutants ( $PM_{2.5}$ , BC, and OC) in nine selected countries, see Figure 4-1. Of the countries, six are in Southeast Asia, whereas three are in Africa. The concentration trends of the air pollutants of each country and city are discussed below with an analysis of their emission trends.



**Figure 4-1**. The trends of annual average air pollutant concentration levels (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in the nine studied countries in terms of (a) PM<sub>2.5</sub>, (b) BC, and (c) OC. The black dotted line represents the global mean values of the three pollutants.

#### Nigeria (Africa)

Nigeria, which is located in the West Africa, had high  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration during the past two decades with an average of annual  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration of 50 µg/m<sup>3</sup> (Figure 4-1). Arid climate, large amounts of mineral dust from the Sahel and Sahara combined with humaninduced biomass burning contributed to the persistent haze in West Africa (Knippertz et al., 2015; Sultan and Janicot, 2003). Biomass combustion was a major direct source of air pollution in West Africa, which can not only lead to an increase in concentration of nitrogen oxides and carbon monoxide but can also indirectly affect climate by disturbing ozone and methane concentration and producing secondary aerosol particles. The biomass burning in this country was almost anthropogenic (e.g., two-wheeled taxis) (Liousse et al., 2010). Besides, another important source of air pollution in West Africa was the anthropogenic emissions from households, transportation and industry (UN population, 2013). As shown



in Figure 4-2, the main air pollutants emission contributors in Nigeria were residential, transport and industrial sectors.

**Figure 4-2**. The trends of annual total anthropogenic emissions (unit: tonnes) of (a) BC, (b) OC, (c) SO<sub>2</sub>, (d) NO<sub>x</sub>, and (e) NH<sub>3</sub> in Nigeria from 2000 to 2019. The blue line represents the total anthropogenic emissions from biofuel.

#### Côte d'Ivoire (Africa)

Côte d'Ivoire had an average of annual PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration of  $50 \ \mu g/m^3$  as shown in Figure 4-1. Located in the West Africa, Côte d'Ivoire shares the same climate with Nigeria with arid climate, which was heavily affected by large amounts of mineral dust from the Sahel and Sahara combined with human-induced biomass burning, resulting in frequent and persistent hazy events in West Africa (Knippertz et al., 2015; Sultan and Janicot, 2003). In the West Africa continent, biomass combustion was a major direct source of air pollution, leading to not only an increase in concentration of nitrogen oxides and carbon monoxide but indirect effects on climate by disturbing ozone and methane concentration and producing secondary aerosol particles. The biomass burning in this country was almost anthropogenic (e.g., two-wheeled taxis) (Liousse et al., 2010). Besides, another important source of air pollution in West Africa was the anthropogenic emissions from households, transportation and industry (UN population, 2013). Figure 4-3 shows that the main air pollutants emission contributors in Côte d'Ivoire were residential, transport and industrial sectors.



**Figure 4-3**. The trends of annual total anthropogenic emissions (unit: tonnes) of (a) BC, (b) OC, (c)  $SO_2$ , (d)  $NO_x$ , and (e)  $NH_3$  in Côte d'Ivoire from 2000 to 2019. The blue line represents the total anthropogenic emissions from biofuel.

#### Kenya (Africa)

As shown in Figure 4-1, Kenya had an average of annual  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration of 10.51  $\mu g/m^3$  during the past two decades. The average values of PM<sub>2.5</sub> in Kenya were close to the global mean value (11.28  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>) as shown by the black dotted line in Figure 4-1. Additionally, the average BC and OC concentration in Kenya was also close to the global average level, with 0.19  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> and 1.74  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively. Senelwa and Hall (1993) reported that, in Kenya, about 85% of energy demand came from biomass burning. and nearly 100% of the rural and 75% of urban population relied on biomass for energy, respectively, in 1993 (Senelwa and Hall, 1993). Biomass burning played an important role in the global carbon cycle (Pennise et al., 2001). Therefore, the total biofuel emissions from BC and OC accounted for approximately 50% of total anthropogenic emissions in Kenya as shown in Figure 4-4 a & b. Besides, all emissions in Kenya showed a clear increasing trend, except for  $SO_2$  emission, which showed a higher total emission in 2011 and tends to decrease since then (Figure 4-4c). This result was consistent with a study conducted by Nyangena in 2012, where energy-related simulations were performed using Business As Usual (BAU) case, showing that the energy consumption from power generation will be reduced from 88% to 73%, whereas final energy consumption will decrease from 48% to 22% in 2030. It is because the renewable energy is expected to grow at 13.7% and 11.0%per year based on some government policies (Nyangena, 2012; Wambui et al., 2022).



**Figure 4-4**. The trends of annual total anthropogenic emissions (unit: tonnes) of (a) BC, (b) OC, (c) SO<sub>2</sub>, (d) NO<sub>x</sub>, and (e) NH<sub>3</sub> in Kenya from 2000 to 2019. The blue line represents the total anthropogenic emissions from biofuel.

#### Indonesia (Southeast Asia)

Indonesia showed an average of annual  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration of 10.33 µg/m<sup>3</sup> from 2000 to 2020, see Figure 4-1. Indonesia showed obvious peaks in  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration, with clear episodes in Sept. 2002 (48.05 µg/m<sup>3</sup>), Oct. 2006 (62.00 µg/m<sup>3</sup>), Oct. 2015 (42.90 µg/m<sup>3</sup>) and Sept. 2019 (30.70 µg/m<sup>3</sup>). Its annual OC concentration (SD: 2.38 µg/m<sup>3</sup>) showed a more obvious increase than  $PM_{2.5}$  and BC. Figures 4-5 shows that all emissions in Indonesia had an increasing trend, in particular to an accelerating upward trend for SO<sub>2</sub> and NO<sub>x</sub>. In Indonesia, the residential sector accounted for the largest proportion of anthropogenic emissions of black carbon. At the same time, 50% of the total anthropogenic emissions came from biofuels (Figure 4-5 a & b). In contrast, emissions from the energy and transportation sectors dominated total anthropogenic emission assessment in Indonesian city (Jakarta) during 2005-2015 showed that the largest contributor to NO<sub>x</sub> emission was the road transport sector, with heavy-duty vehicles being the largest proportion, whereas SO<sub>2</sub> emissions were mainly from industrial combustion (Lestari et al., 2020).



**Figure 4-5**. The trends of annual total anthropogenic emissions (unit: tonnes) of (a) BC, (b) OC, (c)  $SO_2$ , (d)  $NO_x$ , and (e)  $NH_3$  in Indonesia from 2000 to 2019. The blue line represents the total anthropogenic emissions from biofuel.

#### Malaysia (Southeast Asia)

Malaysia as one of the countries in the maritime continent of Southeast Asia. Figure 4-1 shows that Malaysia had an average of annual  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration of 10.33 µg/m<sup>3</sup> during the studied year period, with clear episodes in Sept. 2002 (26.21 µg/m<sup>3</sup>), Sept. 2006 (22.65 µg/m<sup>3</sup>), Aug. 2009 (21.30 µg/m<sup>3</sup>), Sept. 2015 (41.31 µg/m<sup>3</sup>), and Sept. 2019 (40.82 µg/m<sup>3</sup>) and a more obvious increase in annual OC (SD: 1.55 µg/m<sup>3</sup>), which were consistent with the other countries in the maritime continent. In Malaysia, transportation became a significant source of air pollution which involved different modes of transportation such as road, rail, air and sea (Ong et al., 2011). Figure 4-6 shows the total anthropogenic emissions from different sectors in Malaysia. The anthropogenic emissions of BC and NO<sub>x</sub> were mainly from transportation sector, whereas the emissions of OC and SO<sub>2</sub> were mainly from residential and energy sectors, respectively.



**Figure 4-6**. The trends of annual total emissions (unit: tonnes) of (a) BC, (b) OC, (c) SO<sub>2</sub>, (d)  $NO_x$ , and (e)  $NH_3$  in Malaysia from 2000 to 2019. The red line represents the total anthropogenic emissions, whereas the blue line represents the total biofuel emissions.

#### Singapore (Southeast Asia)

Figure 4-1 shows that Singapore had an average of annual PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration of 15.70  $\mu g/m^3$  during the past two decades. There were five clear episodes in PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration in Oct. 2002, Sept. 2006, Sept. 2009, Sept. 2015 and Sept. 2019, with the monthly average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration of 33.70 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, 42.02 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, 22.54 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, 61.83 µg/m<sup>3</sup> and 51.91  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively. It should be noted that its annual OC concentration had a wide variation (SD: 1.92  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>). Figure 4-7 shows the total anthropogenic emissions from different emission sectors in Singapore. The results show that the total anthropogenic emissions of BC and OC had a significant upward trend during the past 20 years, whereas the total emissions of SO<sub>2</sub> showed a decreasing trend. Almost all SO<sub>2</sub> emissions in Singapore came from the energy sector. To diversify its energy sources, Singapore started using natural gas to generate electricity in 1992, and the share of natural gas in total electricity generation rose rapidly from 16% in 1993 to 61% in 2003. To diversify its energy sources, Singapore started using natural gas to generate electricity in 1992, and the share of natural gas in total electricity generation rose rapidly from 16% in 1993 to 61% in 2003. Singapore optimised its energy structure by converting old steam turbine plants into combined cycle plants (Kannan et al., 2007).



**Figure 4-7**. The trends of annual total emissions (unit: tonnes) of (a) BC, (b) OC, (c) SO<sub>2</sub>, (d) NO<sub>x</sub>, and (e) NH<sub>3</sub> in Singapore from 2000 to 2019. The red line represents the total anthropogenic emissions, whereas the blue line represents the total biofuel emissions.

#### Philippines (Southeast Asia)

Philippines, which is located in the eastern Southeast Asia, showed a 9.68  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> of average of annual PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration during the past two decades, see Figure 4-1. Its PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration level was comparable with the global mean displayed by the black dotted line in the figure. The total anthropogenic emissions from different sectors in Philippines showed that the BC and SO<sub>2</sub> emissions had a similar trend, with a decreasing trend until 2011, after which emissions started to increase (Figure 4-8 a & c). Total anthropogenic emissions of OC had a decreasing trend over the last two decades, whereas in contrast, total NO<sub>x</sub> emissions had a significant increase after 2011 (Figure 4-8 b & d).The year 2011 as a turning point may be related to the enactment of the Renewable Energy Act in 2008 to promote the development, utilisation and commercialization of renewable energy in the Philippines through different incentives (Sumabat et al., 2016).



**Figure 4-8**. The trends of annual total emissions (unit: tonnes) of (a) BC, (b) OC, (c) SO<sub>2</sub>, (d) NO<sub>x</sub>, and (e) NH<sub>3</sub> in Philippines from 2000 to 2019. The red line represents the total anthropogenic emissions, whereas the blue line represents the total biofuel emissions.

#### Thailand (Southeast Asia)

Thailand, which is one of the countries in the continental Southeast Asia, had an average of annual  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration lower than 20 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, whereas it had a relatively high BC concentration (1.12 µg/m<sup>3</sup>) during the past two decades. In Thailand, emissions of air pollutants except SO<sub>2</sub> increased for nearly 20 years. SO<sub>2</sub> emissions in this country were mainly from the energy sector and the transportation sector, which means that the structure of energy production in this country was gradually being optimised, probably in relation to some renewable energy policies enacted and implemented in Thailand (Figure 4-9). For example, the Thailand government promoted renewable energy production by purchasing electricity from renewable sources at a higher-than-normal price (Keyuraphan et al., 2012).



**Figure 4-9**. The trends of annual total emissions (unit: tonnes) of (a) BC, (b) OC, (c) SO<sub>2</sub>, (d) NO<sub>x</sub>, and (e) NH<sub>3</sub> in Thailand from 2000 to 2019. The red line represents the total anthropogenic emissions, whereas the blue line represents the total biofuel emissions.

# Vietnam (Southeast Asia)

Vietnam has annual average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration lower than 20 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, whereas a relatively high BC concentration level (1.13 µg/m<sup>3</sup>) as shown in Figure 4-1. Similar to Thailand, Vietnam is also located in the continental Southeast Asia. Emissions of all air pollutants in Vietnam showed an accelerating increase rate (Figure 4-10). It is noted that the trend of average of annual  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration during the past two decades did not show the same trend of emissions despite of the climate policy (Zimmer et al., 2015) and promotion of renewable energy (Nguyen et al., 2019).



**Figure 4-10**. The trends of annual total emissions (unit: tonnes) of (a) BC, (b) OC, (c) SO<sub>2</sub>, (d) NO<sub>x</sub>, and (e) NH<sub>3</sub> in Vietnam from 2000 to 2019. The red line represents the total anthropogenic emissions, whereas the blue line represents the total biofuel emissions.

#### 4.2 Spatial distribution of PM<sub>2.5</sub> in the nine selected countries during the past two decades

This subsection focuses on the discussion of the spatial distribution of  $PM_{2.5}$  in each country in 2000, 2010 and 2020. The three years were selected for evaluating the changes of  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration level during the past two decades. The results are displayed in Figures 4-11 – 4-20.

#### Nigeria (Africa)

Figure 4-11 shows that Nigeria showed a high annual average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration level in the three years up to 120 µg/m<sup>3</sup>. Nigeria had limited air quality management policies and was highly influenced by emissions from old fleets of vehicles using poor quality fuels and traditional stoves burning wood (Keita et al., 2021). Moreover, Nigeria showed a clear north-south pattern in the annual average concentration of  $PM_{2.5}$ . In addition to local sources, the northern region was more vulnerable to dust storms from the Sahara Desert, natural savannah fire sources from prevailing Harmattan wind, and marine aerosols brought by monsoon flow (Gnamien et al., 2021b). According to the spatial distribution maps in Nigeria, the air quality maintained poor and even gets worse during the past twenty years. The maximum  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration observed in 2000 and 2020 was approximately 120 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, whereas the maximum value in 2010 was just around 100 µg/m<sup>3</sup>.



**Figure 4-11**. The spatial distribution of annual average concentration of  $PM_{2.5}$  (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Nigeria in (a) 2000, (b) 2010, and (c) 2020.

#### Côte d'Ivoire (Africa)

Côte d'Ivoire had a clear north-south pattern with the higher  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration (up to around 35 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2020) in north (Figure 4-12). This West African country had limited air quality management policies during the studied period. The country was highly influenced by emissions from old fleets of vehicles using poor quality fuels and traditional stoves burning wood (Keita et al., 2021). In addition to local sources, the northern region was more vulnerable to dust storms from the Sahara Desert, natural savannah fire sources from prevailing Harmattan wind, and marine aerosols brought by monsoon flow (Gnamien et al., 2021b). A previous study focused on the spatial distribution of air pollutants in two typical cities of Côte d'Ivoire (i.e. Abidjan and Korhogo) found that PM<sub>10</sub> and PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration was higher in the neighbourhoods without paved roads and in the area affected by traffic or wood from home fires, respectively. The results also show a strong correlation between particulate matter concentration and living standards. Peak air pollutant concentration in both cities often occurred in the morning and afternoon time. In Abidjan, road traffic intensity was less spread out in the morning than in the evening. In Korhogo, firewood use and dust resuspension increased particulate matter concentration in the evening. Serious public health problems may occur in these regions (Gnamien et al., 2021a). Additionally, the air quality became better in Côte d'Ivoire during the past two decades, with the maximum concentration of PM<sub>2.5</sub> in the northern area decreasing from 45  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> in 2000 to  $35 \ \mu g/m^3$  in 2020.



**Figure 4-12**. The spatial distribution of annual average concentration of  $PM_{2.5}$  (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Côte d'Ivoire in (a) 2000, (b) 2010, and (c) 2020.

#### Kenya (Africa)

As shown in Figure 4-13, Kenya had a clear spatial variation in 2000, whereas the spatial variation became less clear in 2010 and 2020 although the western part had a hotspot with the maximum  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration of around 40 µg/m<sup>3</sup> and 50 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively. As reported in previous study, the higher  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration level in western part of the

country was mainly related to the use of traditional stoves in rural areas (Yip et al., 2017). Although the highest  $PM_{2.5}$  level was observed in a small area of western part in Kenya in 2020, the air pollutant concentration in Kenya had a significant decreasing trend, especially in the northern part, with an average concentration of 30 µg/m<sup>3</sup> recorded in 2000 to 20 µg/m<sup>3</sup> recorded in 2020.



**Figure 4-13**. The spatial distribution of annual average concentration of  $PM_{2.5}$  (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Kenya in (a) 2000, (b) 2010, and (c) 2020.

#### Indonesia (Southeast Asia)

As shown in Figure 4-14,  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in Indonesia tended to be higher in northern Sumatra and Riau, largely due to the impact of frequent wildfires (Fujii et al., 2014). The  $PM_{2.5}$  level can be up to approximately 35 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2020 over there. In addition, air pollution was also more evident in the southern peninsula of Indonesia, i.e., Jakarta and Bandung. Jakarta is the capital of Indonesia and a mega-city with a large population. A large number of buildings, highways and small to large factories are located in and around the city (Santoso et al., 2020). Tangerang is an industrial city near Jakarta with many small factories located around the city. Commercial activities were concentrated in the city center, while industrial activities were concentrated in the west and east of Bandung (Sani et al., 2022). It should be noted that the most active volcano (Mount Merapi) close to the southern cities in Indonesia was one of the major causes of air pollution affecting its surrounding area (Warsini et al., 2014). The spatial distribution of  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in Indonesia did not have too many changes from 2000 to 2020, with the highest concentration that often happened in the western and southern peninsulas in Indonesia at around 30 µg/m<sup>3</sup>.



**Figure 4-14**. The spatial distribution of annual average concentration of  $PM_{2.5}$  (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Indonesia in (a) 2000, (b) 2010, and (c) 2020.

#### Malaysia (Southeast Asia)

In Malaysia, the air pollutant concentration tended to be higher in the Peninsular Malaysia than in the Borneo's East Malaysia as shown in Figure 4-15. The peak  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration can be up to around 25 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2010. Kuala Lumpur, which is the capital city of Malaysia located in the western peninsula, showed the annual  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration of 21.69 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, 19.64 µg/m<sup>3</sup> and 21.25 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2000, 2010 and 2020, respectively. Kuala Lumpur is the most densely populated and prosperous area in Malaysia. The population density in the peninsular area of Malaysia was much higher than that in the Borneo area, and the air

pollution was therefore more serious in the western part (Figure 4-15). Previous research reported the susceptibility of air pollution in the Malay Peninsula to the effects of regional transboundary haze (Latif et al., 2018). In particular, southerly winds during the summer months of June to August provided a favorable meteorology for the transport of  $PM_{2.5}$  from Sumatra long distances northward to Singapore and Peninsular Malaysia. The drier climatic condition during El Niño made the regional haze pollution problem even worse (Tangang et al., 2007).



**Figure 4-15**. The spatial distribution of annual average concentration of  $PM_{2.5}$  (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Malaysia in (a) 2000, (b) 2010, and (c) 2020.

#### Singapore (Southeast Asia)

It should be noted that the spatial distribution of air pollution varied very little and was more susceptible to the influence of surrounding countries because of the small size of Singapore (Figure 4-16). The northern part of Singapore tended to have higher concentration, which may be mainly due to the direction effects from Peninsular Malaysia. According to the spatial figures, the air pollution concentration showed a decreasing trend during the past 20 years, with the maximum value of 18  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> in 2000 to 14  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> in 2010 and to 12.5  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> in 2020.



**Figure 4-16**. The spatial distribution of annual average concentration of  $PM_{2.5}$  (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Singapore in (a) 2000, (b) 2010, and (c) 2020.

#### Philippines (Southeast Asia)

In Philippines, the northern city, Manila, had more serious air pollution as shown in Figure 4-17, which was mainly related to vehicle emissions (Gallardo, 2008). The peak  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration can be up to around 40 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2010. According to the spatial trend of air pollution in Figure 4-17, the maximum  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in Philippines was keeping around 35-40 µg/m<sup>3</sup> during the past two decades, with the highest value happened in 2010. In Philippines, Jeepneys had long been an iconic form of public transportation, but the outdated design of traditional jeepneys was not only unsafe but can cause serious air pollution. The latest news showed that in response to these problems, the Philippine government has launched a modernisation programme, which aimed to replace the traditional jeepney with a greener, more efficient model (Quimba, 2022). But this modernisation plan encountered many complex issues that involved balancing the needs of the transportation industry, the environment, and society. Therefore, from a long-term perspective, there were still many problems in the implementation of the modernisation
plan in the Philippines. This also means that the air pollution in the Philippines, especially in Manila, will continue to be affected by transport sector largely.



**Figure 4-17**. The spatial distribution of annual average concentration of  $PM_{2.5}$  (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Philippines in (a) 2000, (b) 2010, and (c) 2020.

# Thailand (Southeast Asia)

Thailand is a typical agriculture-based country in Southeast Asia, in which air pollution was more severe in the north than in the south (Figure 4-18). Phairuang et al. (2017) confirmed that agricultural activities and forest fires were strongly associated with ambient PM concentration in cities in northern and north-eastern Thailand. For example, sugarcane was a major commercial crop in North Central Thailand, which was used as a raw material for sugar production in the agro-industry. Bagasse as used as fuel for boilers after the crushing process to generate the energy needed to run the sugarcane plant, which in turn released large amounts of air pollutants (Sornpoon et al., 2014). The air quality remained poor in Thailand as shown in Figure 4-18. The highest  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration observed in the northern was around 35 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2000, but it increased to around 42 µg/m<sup>3</sup> and 45 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2010 and 2020, respectively.



**Figure 4-18**. The spatial distribution of annual average concentration of  $PM_{2.5}$  (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Thailand in (a) 2000, (b) 2010, and (c) 2020.

### Vietnam (Southeast Asia)

As shown in Figure 4-19, PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration in Vietnam was higher in the north than in the south (Figure 4-19). Since Vietnam is a typical agriculture-based country in Southeast Asia, agricultural activities and forest fires were strongly associated with ambient PM

concentration in cities in northern part of the country as reported in Phairuang et al (2017). According to the Figure 4-19, the highest  $PM_{2.5}$  happened in the northern part of Vietnam at around 52 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2010, but it decreased to 40 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2020.



**Figure 4-19**. The spatial distribution of annual average concentration of  $PM_{2.5}$  (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Vietnam in (a) 2000, (b) 2010, and (c) 2020.

# 4.3 Episodes analysis in combination with ENSO and IOD in African regions

Air pollution in the three countries of African region was less directly affected by ENSO or IOD, but high air pollution was often highly correlated with dry weather, which was particularly evident in Côte d'Ivoire and Nigeria, where air pollution and rainfall had correspondingly distinct cyclical characteristics.

### Nigeria (Africa)

It is clear that the trend of PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration had remarkable seasonality in Nigeria, with January and February being the dry season (Figures 4-20). Weli and Chineze (2017) confirmed that high PM concentration in January and February may be associated with the dry season, but the influence of meteorological factors on PM concentration was very minor. In addition to the influence of meteorological factors, air pollution in Nigeria was more likely to be influenced by local fossil fuel combustion. Perri et al. (2021) reported that the high concentration months in Nigeria may be due to increased gas flaring activities during the dry season by several types of emission sources such as refineries, petrochemical plants, and fertiliser plants.



**Figure 4-20**. (a) the trends of ONI index (red line), (b) DMI index (blue line), (c) the monthly average rainfall represented in the column bars (unit: mm), monthly average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration (black line) (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Nigeria during 2000-2020.

# Côte d'Ivoire (Africa)

The trend of  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in Côte d'Ivoire also had remarkable seasonality, with January and February being the dry season (Figures 4-21). Weli and Chineze (2017) confirmed that the high PM concentration in January and February may be associated with the dry season, but the influence of meteorological factors on PM concentrations was very minor. In addition to the influence of meteorological factors, air pollution in Côte d'Ivoire was more likely to be influenced by local fossil fuel combustion.



**Figure 4-21**. (a) the trends of ONI index (red line), (b) DMI index (blue line), (c) the monthly average rainfall represented in the column bars (unit: mm), monthly average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration (black line) (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Côte d'Ivoire during 2000-2020.

### Kenya (Africa)

Kenya is located on the eastern coast of Africa, bordering the Indian Ocean, and was therefore more likely to be vulnerable to the effects of a complex climate compared to the other two African countries. Larson et al. (2014) reported that a Pearson correlation of 0.70 between the annual average of PM<sub>2.5</sub> and the annual average of precipitation in Kenya, confirming that PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration was highly associated with precipitation. Air pollution in Kenya was not severe over the past two decades with small fluctuations in PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration, but there was a significant peak moment of high polluted period in the winter of 2008 when the air pollutant concentration exceeded the average concentration (8.29  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>), reaching 25  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> (Figure 4-22). This period coincided with the strong La Niña event of 2008, during which the ocean surface in the central and eastern tropical Pacific Ocean tended to be cool, rainfall increased over Indonesia and decreased significantly in eastern Africa, and the easterly wind along the equator became stronger, which favour long-range transport and accumulation of pollutants in this region. This result was also consistent with a previous study that the variability of rainfall in the Kenyan region was higher during

El Niño than La Niña events (Shisanya et al., 2011). The study also showed that ENSO events were characterised by higher rainfall during October to December, but not all ENSO events resulted in extreme weather events in south-eastern Kenya. In other words, abnormalities in southern Kenya were not always expected to be caused by ENSO occurrences, which supported the study by Amissah-Arthur et al. (2020) that reported El Niño events had different regional impacts on the rainfall in Kenya.



**Figure 4-22**. (a) the trends of ONI index (red line), (b) DMI index (blue line), (c) the monthly average rainfall represented in the column bars (unit: mm), monthly average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration (black line) (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Kenya during 2000-2020.

# 4.4 Episodes analysis in combination with ENSO and IOD in Southeast Asia

The trend analysis showed five consistent peaks in Indonesia, Malaysia, and Singapore. This subsection further analysed the consistent peaks in combination with two climate patterns, ENSO and IOD events.

#### Indonesia (Southeast Asia)

In Indonesia, two  $PM_{2.5}$  peaks in the fall of 2002 and 2015 may be associated with the simultaneous El Niño and positive IOD occurrences (Figures 4-23). Besides, other two  $PM_{2.5}$  peaks in 2002 and 2009 corresponded to positive IOD. This was because positive IOD shifted warm water from Southeast Asia to Africa, lowering atmospheric humidity in southern part of Southeast Asia, making the region less rainy (Amirudin et al., 2020). El Niño, on the other hand, warmed the ocean surface in the central and eastern tropical Pacific, reducing rainfall (Meehl, 1996). Thus, the combined effect of El Niño and positive IOD exacerbated this phenomenon, making the climate drier and rainfall less. Meanwhile, parts of Indonesia, especially in Sumatra and Riau, were often affected by severe haze caused by forest fires, and the arid climate contributed to increased wildfires and deteriorating air quality (Jayachandran, 2009; Mead et al., 2018).



**Figure 4-23**. (a) the trends of ONI index (red line), (b) DMI index (blue line), (c) the monthly average rainfall represented in the column bars (unit: mm), monthly average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration (black line) (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Indonesia during 2000-2020.

#### Malaysia (Southeast Asia)

As another typical maritime country in Southeast Asia, Malaysia was also suffering from the strong effects of ENSO and IOD. Two peak times occurring in the fall of 2002 and 2015 coincided with the simultaneous El Niño and positive IOD occurrences, and other two peak time in 2006 and 2019 coincided with positive IOD alone (Figure 4-24). Meanwhile, Malaysia was often under the severe effects of haze and wildfires, and the arid climate contributed to increased wildfires and deteriorating air quality (Jayachandran, 2009; Mead et al., 2018). The combined effect of El Niño and positive IOD exacerbated the air quality there, making the climate drier and rainfall less (Amirudin et al., 2020).



**Figure 4-24**. (a) the trends of ONI index (red line), (b) DMI index (blue line), (c) the monthly average rainfall represented in the column bars (unit: mm), monthly average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration (black line) (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Malaysia during 2000-2020.

### Singapore (Southeast Asia)

Singapore was under the strong effects of ENSO and IOD. Two peak times occurring in the fall of 2002 and 2015 coincided with the simultaneous El Niño and positive IOD occurrences, and other two peak times in 2006 and 2019 coincided with positive IOD alone

(Figure 4-25). Meanwhile, Singapore was often under the severe effects of haze and wildfires, and the arid climate contributed to increased wildfires and deteriorating air quality (Jayachandran, 2009; Mead et al., 2018). The combined effect of El Niño and positive IOD exacerbated the air quality in the country, making the climate drier and rainfall less (Amirudin et al., 2020). It should be noted that the high air pollution event in Singapore in 2013 was the worst air pollution event in Singapore's history, contributed by the massive wildfires in Sumatra, Indonesia in June 2013 (Velasco and Rastan, 2015).



**Figure 4-25**. (a) the trends of ONI index (red line), (b) DMI index (blue line), (c) the monthly average rainfall represented in the column bars (unit: mm), monthly average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration (black line) (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Singapore during 2000-2020.

#### Philippines (Southeast Asia)

Although Philippines is also the country surrounded by the sea in Southeast Asia, only the combined effect of El Niño and positive IOD in 2015 exacerbated the PM<sub>2.5</sub> pollution level in the country, and the effect of 2002 was not significant (Figure 4-26). This may be related to the location of Philippines in the western Pacific Ocean, where diverse and complex climatic effects are present (Hu et al., 2015; Weng et al., 2007). Therefore, the simultaneous occurrence of El Niño and positive IOD events contributed to the increase of air pollution

in maritime countries of Southeast Asia except the Philippines. Besides, the air pollution in these maritime countries was more subject to the individual positive IOD event than to the individual El Niño (i.e., 2006, 2012, and 2019), which can also be verified in Philippines, where, for example, the positive IOD event in 2019 corresponded to one of the peak events.



**Figure 4-26**. (a) the trends of ONI index (red line), (b) DMI index (blue line), (c) the monthly average rainfall represented in the column bars (unit: mm), monthly average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration (black line) (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Philippines during 2000-2020.

### Thailand (Southeast Asia)

In contrast, there was no significant relationship between ENSO or IOD events and air pollution changes in Thailand, as shown in Figure 4-27. It is clear that high air pollution was usually associated with low rainfall and dry weather, but neither ENSO nor IOD events had a significant driving effect on precipitation in this region. A study about haze in northern Thailand showed that rainfall may be the main cause of haze reduction in Thailand, and there was no significant association between ENSO and haze phenomena (Sooktawee et al., 2015). Another climate study analysing the 2011 floods in Thailand also confirmed that La Niña had only a minor effect on rainfall in this region (Van Oldenborgh et al., 2012).



**Figure 4-27**. (a) the trends of ONI index (red line), (b) DMI index (blue line), (c) the monthly average rainfall represented in the column bars (unit: mm), monthly average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration (black line) (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Thailand during 2000-2020.

# Vietnam (Southeast Asia)

In Vietnam, there was no significant relationship between ENSO or IOD events and air pollution changes. According to the Figure 4-28, high air pollution was usually associated with low rainfall and dry weather, but neither ENSO nor IOD events had a significant driving effect on precipitation in this region. Takahashi et al. (2011) showed that ENSO, represented by the Niño-3.4 index, had minor effect on rainfall for the entire Indochina Peninsula, including Vietnam, during the rainy season.



**Figure 4-28**. (a) the trends of ONI index (red line), (b) DMI index (blue line), (c) the monthly average rainfall represented in the column bars (unit: mm), monthly average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration (black line) (unit:  $\mu g/m^3$ ) in Vietnam during 2000-2020.

# 4.5 Human health impacts of PM<sub>2.5</sub>

This subsection focuses on the discussion of the premature deaths and incidences in each country due to  $PM_{2.5}$  through different diseases over the past two decades, see Table 4-1 and Table 4-2.

				:		
Region	All-cause	COPD	IHD	LC	LRI	Stroke
Indonesia	3,165,156	253,213	994,541	171,553	150,608	1,595,241
	(2,013,987-4,111,831)	(138,621-349,293)	(635,902-1,291,284)	(110,090-224,256)	(68,991-220,638)	(1,060,383-2,026,361)
Nigeria	2,669,142	103,914	544,003	38,734	1.371.250	611.241
0	(1,953,013-3,232,595)	(70,829-128,985)	(454,203-620,215)	(30,059-46,026)	(891,228-1,743,295)	(506,693-694,075)
Vietnam	1,618,314	133,203	368,265	99,394	88,017	929,435
	(1,158,436-1,993,307)	(79,486-176,881)	(269,855-450,366)	(70,511-124,100)	(46,391-122,535)	(692,191-1,119,425)
Philippines	988,137	70,357	375,279	47,026	146,049	349,426
	(632,566-1,282,200)	(39,440-96,101)	(251,429-477,850)	(31,298-60,502)	(69,073-211,575)	(241,326-436,172)
Thailand	830,045	87,549	252,179	94,972	78,866	316,478
	(563,218-1,049,959)	(50,717-117,860)	(178,633-313,329)	(65,868-119,892)	(39,259-112,161)	(228,741-386,717)
Malaysia	275,167	18,222	120,563	15,806	36,400	84,176
5	(156,142-374,230)	(9,426-25,712)	(70,222-162,072)	(9,501-21,217)	(15,254-54,836)	(51,739-110,393)
Kenya	250,427	20,155	60,253	4,405	69,831	95,783
2	(150,456-333,581)	(11,134-27,704)	(39,451-77,452)	(2,888-5,705)	(32,150-102,093)	(64,833-120,627)
Côte	182,301	7,941	47,007	5,326	72,722	49,305
d'Ivoire	(109,381-243,133)	(4,485-10,811)	(32,012-59,432)	(3,590-6,814)	(34,800-104,904)	(34,493-6,112)
Singapore	27,424	1,639	11,727	3,529	4,573	5,956
0.1	(15,495-37,410)	(853-2,307)	(6,899-15,705)	(2,139-4,721)	(1,913-6,894)	(3,691-7,783)

**Table 4-1**. The estimated total number of premature deaths of each disease due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in each country during 2000-2020. The ranges in parentheses are 95% confidence interval.

**Table 4-2**. The total incidence outcomes (unit: thousand) of each disease due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in each country during 2000-2020. The ranges in parentheses are 95% confidence interval.

Country or Cities	All-cause	COPD	IHD	LC	LRI	Stroke
Nigeria	74,680	573	1.115	37	72.009	947
1 (igeria	(48,910-94,671)	(390-711)	(931-1,272)	(29-44)	(46,776-91,570)	(785-1,075)
Indonesia	45,158	1,200	829	167	39,967	2,995
	(21,651-65,242)	(657-1,655)	(529-1,077)	(107-218)	(18,368-58,487)	(1,990-3,805)
Philippines	25,559	403	714	47	23,696	699
	(12,430-36,714)	(226-550)	(479-910)	(31-60)	(11,212-34,322)	(483-873)
Vietnam	20,397	686	636	99	17,872	1,103
	(11,178-28,032)	(409-910)	(466-777)	(71-124)	(9,411-24,890)	(821-1,330)
Thailand	15,900	488	560	93	14,066	693
	(8,258-22,310)	(283-657)	(397-696)	(65-118)	(7,012-19,994)	(501-847)
Kenya	8,618	101	176	4	8,176	161
-	(4,048-12,524)	(56-139)	(115-227)	(3-5)	(3,766-11,951)	(109-202)
Côte	5,521	49	99	5	5,269	97
d'Ivoire	(2,682-7,929)	(28-67)	(68-126)	(4-7)	(2,515-7,608)	(68-121)
Malaysia	5,277	104	176	16	4,794	187
	(2,287-7,875)	(54-147)	(103-237)	(9-21)	(2,006-7,225)	(115-245)
Singapore	352	19	32	5	269	26
- *	(161-517)	(10-27)	(19-43)	(3-6)	(113-405)	(16-35)

# Nigeria (Africa)

Nigeria was estimated to have the total number of 2,669,142 (95% UI: 1,953,013 – 3,232,595) all-cause premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  during the past two decades. Among diseases, LRI, Stroke and IHD were the top three contributors to the total number of 1,371,250 (95% UI: 891,228-1,743,295), 611,241 (95% UI: 506,693-694,075) and 544,003 (95% UI: 454,203-620,215) premature deaths in Nigeria during 2000-2020.

As for the total incidence, Nigeria had the highest all-cause incidences [a total of 74,680 (95% UI: 48,910 - 94,671) (unit: thousand) incidences due to PM<sub>2.5</sub>]. LRI was the largest contributor causing 72,009 (95% UI: 46,776-91,570) (unit: thousand).

Figure 4-29 shows the total number of premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Nigeria did not show a significant upward trend, which may be associated with a significant decline in premature deaths through LRI. Nevertheless, the incidence due to  $PM_{2.5}$  showed a slight upward trend.



**Figure 4-29**. The trend of (a) premature deaths and (b) incidences in Nigeria through different diseases from 2000 to 2020. The shaded areas represent the 95% confidence interval.

### Côte d'Ivoire (Africa)

Côte d'Ivoire was estimated to cause the total number of 182,301 (95% UI: 109,381-243,133) all-cause premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  during the past two decades. Among diseases, LRI, Stroke and IHD were the top three contributors to the premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$ , respectively causing the total number of 72,722 (95% UI: 34,800-104,904), 49,305 (95% UI: 34,493-6,112) and 47,007 (95% UI: 32,012-59,432) premature deaths during 2000-2020. The highest number of incidences of LRI was associated with the high incidence rate of this disease in this country (Shi et al., 2017).

Figure 4-30 shows there were clear upward trends in total deaths and incidences due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Côte d'Ivoire during the past two decades. The number of all-cause premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  showed a slightly increasing trend. The increasing trend was particularly obvious in the premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  through COPD, IHD and LC, whereas the premature deaths in due to LRI shows a decreasing trend.



**Figure 4-30**. The trend of (a) premature deaths and (b) incidences in Côte d'Ivoire through different diseases from 2000 to 2020. The shaded areas represent the 95% confidence interval.

# Kenya (Africa)

Kenya was estimated to cause the total number of 250,427 (95% UI: 150,456-333,581) allcause premature deaths and 8,618 (95% UI: 4,048-12,524) (unit: thousand) incidences due to  $PM_{2.5}$  during the past two decades. Stroke was the largest contributor in premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Kenya, accounting for a total number of 95,783 (95% UI: 64,833-120,627). LRI was the largest contributor in incidences due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Kenya, with a total number of 8,176 (95% UI: 3,766-11,951) (unit: thousand). The highest number of incidences of LRI was associated with the high incidence rate of this disease (Shi et al., 2017).

Besides, there were significant synchronous increasing trends in both total premature deaths and incidence in Kenya, due to  $PM_{2.5}$  from 2000 to 2020 in Kenya as (Figure 4-31).



**Figure 4-31**. The trend of (a) premature deaths and (b) incidences in Kenya through different diseases from 2000 to 2020. The shaded areas represent the 95% confidence interval.

# Indonesia (Southeast Asia)

Indonesia had a total of 3,165,156 (95% UI: 2,013,987 – 4,111,831) premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  during the study period. Among diseases, Stroke, IHD, and COPD were the top three contributors to the premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$ , respectively causing 1,595,241 (95% UI: 1,060,383-2,026,361), 994,541 (95% UI: 635,902-1,291,284), and 253,213 (95% UI: 138,621-349,293) premature deaths during 2000-2020. For the total incidence attributable to  $PM_{2.5}$ , Indonesia was estimated to cause the total number of 45,158 (95% UI: 21,651-65,242) (unit: thousand) all-cause incidence during the past two decades.

Figure 4-32 shows there were clear upward trends in total premature deaths and incidences due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . Although air quality in Indonesia was highly influenced by ENSO and IOD, it was not fully reflected in the final health outcomes. Previous studies confirmed that the public health in Indonesia was not only affected by climate but also by the local emission sources (e.g., population and human activities) (Sumarga, 2017; Uda et al., 2019).



**Figure 4-32**. The trend of (a) premature deaths and (b) incidences in Indonesia through different diseases from 2000 to 2020. The shaded areas represent the 95% confidence interval.

### Malaysia (Southeast Asia)

Malaysia had a total of 275,167 (95% UI: 156,142-374,230) premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  during the study period. Among diseases, IHD, Stroke and LRI are the top three contributors to the premature deaths, causing a total number of 120,563 (95% UI: 70,222-162,072), 84,176 (95% UI: 51,739-110,393), and 36,400 (95% UI: 15,254-54,836) premature deaths during 2000-2020. For the total incidence due to  $PM_{2.5}$ , Malaysia was estimated to cause the total number of 5,277 (95% UI: 2,287-7,875) (unit: thousand) all-cause incidence during the past two decades.

There were clear consistent upward trends in total premature deaths and incidences for each disease in Malaysia, see Figure 4-33. Although air quality in Malaysia was highly influenced by ENSO and IOD, it was not fully reflected in the final health outcomes. Previous studies confirmed that the public health in Malaysia was not only affected by climate but also by the local sources (e.g., population and human activities) (Sumarga, 2017; Uda et al., 2019).



**Figure 4-33**. The trend of (a) premature deaths and (b) incidences in Malaysia through different diseases from 2000 to 2020. The shaded areas represent the 95% confidence interval.

### Singapore (Southeast Asia)

Singapore had a total of 27,424 (95% UI: 15,495-37,410) premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  during the study period. Among diseases, IHD, Stroke and LRI were the top three contributors to the premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$ , causing 11,727 (95% UI: 6,899-15,705), 5,956 (95% UI: 3,691-7,783), and 4,573 (95% UI: 1,913-6,894) premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  during 2000-2020. For the total incidence due to  $PM_{2.5}$ , Singapore was estimated to cause the total number of 352 (95% UI: 161-517) (unit: thousand) all-cause incidence during the past two decades.

In Singapore, as shown in Figure 4-34, the premature deaths and incidence were more volatile, with a total of six distinct waves. Five of the waves corresponded to high polluted weather caused by El Niño and positive IOD events, and the remaining wave was influenced by the large wildfires in Indonesia according to previous analyses. This result indicates that the public health in Singapore was more sensitive to the severe and extreme weather (Aik et al., 2018).



**Figure 4-34**. The trend of (a) premature deaths and (b) incidences in Singapore through different diseases from 2000 to 2020. The shaded areas represent the 95% confidence interval.

# Philippines (Southeast Asia)

Philippines was estimated to cause the total number of 988,137 (95% UI: 1632,566-1,282,200) all-cause premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  during the past two decades. Among diseases, IHD, Stroke, and LRI were the top three contributors to the premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$ , causing the total number of 375,279 (95% UI: 251,429-477,850), 349,426 (95% UI: 241,326-436,172) and 146,049 (95% UI: 69,073-211,575) premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  during 2000-2020. For the total incidence, Philippines had the highest all-cause incidences, with a total of 25,559 (95% UI: 12,430-36,714) (unit: thousand) incidences due to  $PM_{2.5}$  exposure, with LRI 23,696 (95% UI: 11,212-34,322) is the largest contributor.

Figure 4-35 shows the total number of premature deaths and incidence due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Philippines. The results show clear upward trends during the past two decades.



**Figure 4-35**. The trend of (a) premature deaths and (b) incidences in the Philippines through different diseases from 2000 to 2020. The shaded areas represent the 95% confidence interval.

### Thailand (Southeast Asia)

Thailand was estimated to cause the total number of 830,045 (95% UI: 563,218-1,049,959) all-cause premature deaths and 15,900 (95% UI: 8,258-22,310) (unit: thousand) incidences due to PM<sub>2.5</sub> during the past two decades. Stroke was the largest contributor in premature deaths due to PM<sub>2.5</sub> in Thailand with a total number of 316,478 (95% UI: 228,741-386,717) premature deaths. LRI was the largest contributor in incidences due to PM<sub>2.5</sub> in Thailand, with a total number of 14,066 (95% UI: 7,012-19,994) (unit: thousand). The highest number of incidences of LRI was associated with the high incidence rate of this disease (Shi et al., 2017).

Figure 4-36 shows the total number of premature deaths and incidence due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Thailand had clear and consistent upward trends during the past two decades, which is also confirmed in previous study (Shi et al., 2018). Shi et al. also calculated that the premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  increased by an average of 38% in South and Southeast Asian countries including Thailand during 1999 to 2014.



**Figure 4-36**. The trend of (a) premature deaths and (b) incidences in Thailand through different diseases from 2000 to 2020. The shaded areas represent the 95% confidence interval.

#### Vietnam (Southeast Asia)

Vietnam was estimated to cause the total number of 1,618,314 (95% UI: 1,158,436-1,993,307) all-cause premature deaths and 20,397 (95% UI: 11,178-28,032) (unit: thousand) incidences due to  $PM_{2.5}$  during the past two decades. Among diseases, Stroke was the largest contributor to premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Vietnam, causing a total number of 929,435 (95% UI: 692,191-1,119,425). In addition, LRI was the largest contributor in incidences due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Vietnam, with a total number of 17,872 (95% UI: 9,411-24,890) (unit: thousand). The highest number of incidences of LRI was associated with the high incidence rate of this disease (Shi et al., 2017).

Figure 4-37 shows that the total number of premature deaths and incidence due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Vietnam showed clear upward trends during the past two decades. This result was also confirmed in previous study (Shi et al., 2018). Shi et al. also calculated that the premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  increased by an average of 38% in South and Southeast Asian countries including Vietnam from 1999 to 2014.



**Figure 4-37**. The trend of (a) premature deaths and (b) incidences in Vietnam through different diseases from 2000 to 2020. The shaded areas represent the 95% confidence interval.

# 5 CONCLUSION

Air pollution of the countries in maritime Southeast Asia (Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore, and Philippines) was more influenced by individual positive IOD events than by individual El Niño events. The simultaneous occurrence of El Niño and positive IOD events contributed to the increase in air pollution in the countries in maritime Southeast Asia except the Philippines probably due to its location in the western Pacific Ocean with diverse and complex climatic influences. Nevertheless, there was no significant relationship between ENSO or IOD events and changes in air pollution in Thailand and Vietnam. Because the impact of ENSO on the Asian monsoon was limited over Indochina and the Indian subcontinent. The total number of premature deaths and incidence due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in most Southeast countries, except Singapore, showed a clear upward trend. The premature deaths and incidence due to PM<sub>2.5</sub> in Singapore had a strong association with El Niño and positive IOD events, implying that public health in Singapore was more sensitive to severe and extreme weather, but this phenomenon was not evident in Indonesia and Malaysia. In Thailand and Vietnam, there were increasing trends of premature deaths and incidence due to PM<sub>2.5</sub>. Stroke and IHD were the major diseases in Thailand and Vietnam. For the three African countries, Nigeria and Côte d'Ivoire had relatively high PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration over the past 20 years, with local biomass burning likely to be the main source. The main pollutant emissions in Nigeria and Côte d'Ivoire were mainly from residential, transportation and industrial sources. High PM<sub>2.5</sub> level in both countries were likely to be associated with the dry season, and meteorological factors had a minor effect on PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration. By contrast, Kenya was more vulnerable to the complex climate effects coming from the Indian Ocean. Kenya showed an upward trend in health outcomes due to  $PM_{2.5}$  among the three African countries, whereas Nigeria and Côte d'Ivoire showed slightly upward trends, which may be related to the significant decline in premature deaths through LRI due to PM2.5 in these two countries. Detailed conclusions for each country and city are drawn below.

#### Nigeria (Africa)

Nigeria experienced high  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration over the past 20 years, with an average of annual  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration of 50 µg/m<sup>3</sup>. Due to the limited air quality management policies, Nigeria was heavily influenced by emissions from old fleets of vehicles using poor quality fuels and traditional wood burning stoves. The arid climate, high levels of mineral dust from the Sahel and Sahara combined with human-induced biomass burning contributed to the persistent haze in the region. In addition, another important source of air pollution in Nigeria was anthropogenic emissions from households, transportation, and industry. The trend of  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in Nigeria had a clear seasonal pattern, with high PM concentration probably associated with the dry season in January and February. According to the spatial distribution map of Nigeria, air quality was poor and even getting worse over the last 20 years, showing a clear north-south pattern in terms of annual average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration. The northern region was more vulnerable to dust storms from the Sahara desert, natural grassland fires from the prevailing Harmattan winds, and marine aerosols from monsoonal currents.

The total number of all-cause premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Nigeria in the last 20 years was estimated to be 2,669,142 (95% UI: 1,953,013 - 3,232,595). LRI, Stroke and IHD were the top three diseases to the premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . The total incidence due to  $PM_{2.5}$  was 74,680 (95% UI: 48,910 - 94,671) (in thousands), with LRI being the largest contributor. The total number of premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Nigeria did not show any

significant upward trend, which may be associated with the significant decrease in premature deaths through LRI due to  $PM_{2.5}$ .

### Côte d'Ivoire (Africa)

Côte d'Ivoire showed an average of annual  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration of 50 µg/m<sup>3</sup>. The country was vulnerable to large amounts of mineral dust from the Sahel and Sahara. Biomass burning was the main direct source of air pollution in the region, contributing not only to the increase in NO<sub>x</sub> and CO concentration, but also to the indirect impact on climate by disturbing ozone and methane concentration and by generating secondary aerosol particles. The main air pollutant emitters in Côte d'Ivoire were the residential, transport and industrial sectors. PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration was higher in the north of Côte d'Ivoire (up to around 35 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2020). Moreover, the air quality in Côte d'Ivoire became better in the last 20 years, with the maximum PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration in the north decreasing from 45 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2000 to 35 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2020. Trends in PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration in Côte d'Ivoire had a clear seasonal pattern, with high PM concentration in January and February (dry season).

The total number of all-cause premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Côte d'Ivoire over the past 20 years was 182,301 (95% UI: 109,381-243,133). LRI, Stroke, and IHD were the top three diseases to the premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . There was a significant upward trend in the total number of premature deaths and morbidity due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . The number of premature deaths from all causes due to  $PM_{2.5}$  showed a slight upward trend. The increasing trend as particularly evident in premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  through COPD, IHD and LC, whereas the premature deaths through LRI showed a decreasing trend.

### Kenya (Africa)

The average of annual  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration level in Kenya over the last 20 years was 10.51 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, which was close to the global average (11.28 µg/m<sup>3</sup>). In addition, the average BC and OC concentration in Kenya were close to the global average at 0.19 µg/m<sup>3</sup> and 1.74 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively. The total biofuel emissions from BC and OC accounted for about 50% of total anthropogenic emissions in Kenya. All emissions in Kenya showed a clear increasing trend, except for SO<sub>2</sub> emissions, which had a higher total emission in 2011 and tended to decrease thereafter. Kenya had a significant spatial variation in 2000, whereas the spatial variation became less pronounced in 2010 and 2020 despite the presence of a hotspot in the western region with the maximum PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration of around 40 µg/m<sup>3</sup> and 50 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively. The higher PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration levels in the western region were mainly associated with the use of traditional stoves in rural areas. Although the highest PM<sub>2.5</sub> levels were recorded in a small part of western Kenya in 2020, there was a clear downward trend in air pollutant concentration in Kenya, especially in the northern region where the average PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration of 30 µg/m<sup>3</sup> and 20 µg/m<sup>3</sup> was recorded in 2000 and 2020, respectively.

Kenya was susceptible to complex climates. Kenya had a distinct moment of peak high pollution in the winter of 2008, which coincided with a strong La Niña event in 2008. In the year, the ocean surface in the central and eastern tropical Pacific tended to cool, rainfall in eastern Africa decreased significantly, and easterly winds along the equator became stronger. All these conditions were favourable to long-range transport and accumulation of air pollutants in the region. It is worth to point out that not all El Niño events resulted in extreme weather events in southeastern Kenya.

Over the past 20 years, the total number of all-cause premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Kenya was 250,427 (95% UI: 150,456-333,581) and the number of incidences was 8,618 (95% UI: 4,048-12,524) (unit: thousands). In Kenya, stroke was the largest contributor to premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$ , whereas LRI was the largest contributor to morbidity due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Kenya. In addition, there was a significant parallel trend in the total number and incidence of premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Kenya from 2000 to 2020.

### Indonesia (Southeast Asia)

Indonesia showed an average of annual PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration of 10.33  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> from 2000 to 2020 with significant peaks in September 2002 (48.05  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>), October 2006 (62.00  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>), October 2015 (42.90  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>) and September 2019 (30.70 $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>). There was an increasing trend for all emissions in Indonesia, especially an accelerating trend for SO<sub>2</sub> and NO<sub>x</sub> emissions. In Indonesia, the residential sector accounted for the largest proportion of anthropogenic emissions of BC. Meanwhile, 50% of the total anthropogenic emissions came from biofuels. In contrast, emissions from the energy and transportation sectors dominated the total anthropogenic emissions of SO<sub>2</sub> and NO<sub>x</sub>, respectively.

 $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in Indonesia tended to be higher in northern Sumatra and Riau, mainly due to the effects of frequent wildfires, while air pollution was also more pronounced in Jakarta and Bandung located in the southern peninsula of Indonesia. It should be noted that the most active volcano (Mount Merapi) close to the southern cities of Indonesia was one of the main causes of air pollution affecting its surrounding areas. From 2000 to 2020, the spatial distribution of  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in Indonesia did not change much, with the highest concentration (about 30 µg/m<sup>3</sup>) tending to occur in the western and southern peninsulas of Indonesia.

The two  $PM_{2.5}$  peaks in the fall of 2002 and 2015 may be associated with the simultaneous occurrence of El Niño and positive IOD, whereas the other two  $PM_{2.5}$  peaks in 2002 and 2009 corresponded to positive IOD. This was because the positive IOD and El Niño reduced the atmospheric humidity in southern Southeast Asia, which reduced the rainfall in the region. Meanwhile, parts of Indonesia, especially Sumatra and Riau, were often affected by severe haze caused by forest fires, and the arid climate led to an increase of wildfires, deteriorating air quality.

In Indonesia, a total of 3,165,156 (95% UI: 2,013,987 - 4,111,831) people died prematurely due to  $PM_{2.5}$  during the study period. Stroke, IHD and COPD were the top three diseases to the premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . In the last 20 years, Indonesia contributed to 45,158 (95% UI: 21,651 - 65,242) (in thousands) all-cause incidences. There was a clear upward trend in the total number of premature deaths and incidences due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . Although air quality in Indonesia as strongly influenced by ENSO and IOD, it was not fully reflected in the final health outcomes.

### Malaysia (Southeast Asia)

The average of annual PM<sub>2.5</sub> concentration in Malaysia during the study period was 10.33  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> (Figure 4-1), with significant episodes in September 2002 (26.21  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>), September 2006 (22.65  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>), August 2009 (21.30  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>), September 2015 (41.31  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>) and September 2019 (40.30  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>). Traffic became an important source of air pollution in the region, which involved different modes of transport such as road, rail, air, and sea (Ong et

al., 2011). Anthropogenic emissions of BC and  $NO_x$  were mainly from the transport sector, while OC and  $SO_2$  emissions were mainly from the residential and energy sectors.

Peninsular Malaysia tended to have higher concentration of air pollutants than East Malaysia in Borneo (Figure 4-15). Kuala Lumpur was the most densely populated and prosperous region in Malaysia. The population density was much higher in Peninsular Malaysia than in Borneo, and therefore air pollution was more severe in the western part of the country (Latif et al., 2018). Air pollution in Peninsular Malaysia was susceptible to regional transboundary haze. In particular, the southerly winds during the summer months of June to August provided favourable meteorological conditions for the long northward transport of PM<sub>2.5</sub> from Sumatra Island to Singapore and Peninsular Malaysia (Warsini et al., 2014). During El Niño, dry weather conditions exacerbated the regional haze pollution problem. Two peaks in the fall of 2002 and 2015 coincided with the simultaneous occurrence of El Niño and positive IOD, and the other two peaks in 2006 and 2019 coincided with the occurrence of positive IOD alone (Figure 4-24). The combined effects of El Niño and positive IOD exacerbated the air quality there, making the climate drier and with less rainfall (Amirudin et al., 2020).

During the study period, a total of 275,167 (95% UI: 156,142-374,230) premature deaths were due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Malaysia. IHD, stroke, and LRI were the top three diseases to the premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . In the past 20 years,  $PM_{2.5}$  contributed to 5,277 (95% UI: 2,287-7,875) (in thousands) all-cause incidences in Malaysia. There was a clear and consistent upward trend in the total number of premature deaths and the incidence of each disease due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . Although air quality in Malaysia was highly influenced by ENSO and IOD, it was not fully reflected in the final health outcomes.

### Singapore (Southeast Asia)

Over the past 20 years, the average of annual  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in Singapore as 15.70 µg/m<sup>3</sup>. There were five significant episodes of  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in October 2002, September 2006, September 2009, September 2015 and September 2019, with monthly average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration of 33.70 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, 42.02 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, 22.54 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, 61.83 µg/m<sup>3</sup> and 51.91 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively. There was a clear upward trend in total anthropogenic emissions of BC and OC, whereas there was a downward trend in total SO<sub>2</sub> emissions. Almost all of the SO<sub>2</sub> emissions in Singapore came from the energy sector. Concentration tended to be higher in the northern part of Singapore, which may be mainly due to the directional influence from nonlocal emission sources.

Singapore was susceptible to strong effects of ENSO and IOD. Two peaks in the fall of 2002 and 2015 coincided with the simultaneous occurrence of El Niño and positive IOD, whereas the two other peaks in 2006 and 2019 coincided with the occurrence of positive IOD alone. The combined effect of El Niño and positive IOD resulted in a drier climate and less rainfall, exacerbating the air quality in the country. Meanwhile, Singapore was often severely affected by haze and wildfires particularly in a dry climate. This can deteriorate air quality significantly. It should be noted that the 2013 high air pollution event in Singapore was the worst air pollution event in Singapore's history, contributed to by the massive wildfires in Sumatra, Indonesia in June 2013.

During the study period, a total of 27,424 (95% UI: 15,495-37,410) premature deaths in Singapore were due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . IHD, Stroke, and LRI were the top three diseases to the premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  during 2000-2020, causing 352 (95% UI: 161-517) (in

thousands) all-cause incidences in Singapore over the past 20 years. Premature deaths and incidence due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Singapore fluctuated widely with six distinct waves. Five of the waves corresponded to high pollution weather caused by El Niño and positive IOD events, and the remaining wave was influenced by large wildfires in Indonesia according to a previous analysis. This result suggests that public health in Singapore was more sensitive to severe and extreme weather.

# Philippines (Southeast Asia)

Philippines showed an average of annual  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration level of 9.68 µg/m<sup>3</sup> during the past two decades, which was close to the global average. The total anthropogenic emissions from different sectors in Philippines showed a similar trend for BC and SO<sub>2</sub> emissions, with a decreasing trend until 2011, after which emissions started to increase. Total anthropogenic emissions of OC showed a decreasing trend over the last two decades, and in contrast, total NO<sub>x</sub> emissions increased significantly after 2011. Air pollution was more severe in the northern city of Manila in the Philippines, which was mainly associated with vehicle emissions.

Although Philippines is a country surrounded by sea in Southeast Asia, only the combined effect of El Niño and positive IOD exacerbated  $PM_{2.5}$  pollution levels in the country in 2015, while the effects were not significant in 2002. This may be because Philippines is located in the western Pacific Ocean, where the climate impacts are diverse and complex. The simultaneous occurrence of El Niño and positive IOD events contributed to the increase in air pollution in the countries in maritime Southeast Asia except the Philippines. Moreover, air pollution in these maritime countries was more influenced by individual positive IOD events than by individual El Niño events (i.e., 2006, 2012, and 2019), which can also be verified in Philippines, where, for example, the 2019 positive IOD event corresponded to one of the peak events.

The total number of all-cause premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in the Philippines in the past 20 years was 988,137 (95% UI: 1632,566-1,282,200). IHD, Stroke and LRI were the top three diseases to the premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . The total all-cause incidences due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in the Philippines were 25,559 (95% UI: 12,430-36,714) (in thousands), with LRI being the largest contributor. There was a significant upward trend in the total number and incidence of premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in the Philippines over the past 20 years.

#### Thailand (Southeast Asia)

In the past two decades, the average of annual  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in Thailand was below 20 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, whereas its BC concentration was relatively high at 1.12 µg/m<sup>3</sup>. In Thailand, emissions of air pollutants other than SO<sub>2</sub> increased in the last 20 years. SO<sub>2</sub> emissions in this country came mainly from the energy sector and the transportation sector. Thailand is a typical agriculture-based country whose air pollution was more severe in the north than in the south. As confirmed in previous research, agricultural activities and forest fires were strongly associated with ambient PM concentration in cities in northern and northeastern Thailand. The highest  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration observed in the north was about 35 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2000 but increased to about 42 µg/m<sup>3</sup> and 45 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2010 and 2020, respectively.

There was no significant relationship between ENSO or IOD events and air pollution changes in Thailand. Although high air pollution was usually associated with low rainfall

and dry weather, there was no significant driving effect of either ENSO or IOD events on precipitation in Thailand. This finding was consistent with the findings of previous studies.

The total number of all-cause premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Thailand in the past 20 years was 830,045 (95% UI: 563,218-1,049,959) and the number of incidences was 15,900 (95% UI: 8,258-22,310) (in thousands). In Thailand, stroke was the largest cause of premature death due to  $PM_{2.5}$ , and LRI was the largest incidence due to  $PM_{2.5}$ . Over the past 20 years, there was a clear and consistent upward trend in the total number of premature deaths and incidences due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Thailand, which was confirmed in previous studies.

### Vietnam (Southeast Asia)

In the past two decades, the average of annual  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration in Vietnam was below 20 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, whereas the BC concentration level is relatively high at 1.13 µg/m<sup>3</sup>. Emissions of all air pollutants in Vietnam showed an accelerated growth trend. It is noteworthy that the trends of annual average  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration did not show the same emission trends, which may be related to the measures enacted to deal with air pollution in Vietnam in recent years. For example, the Vietnamese government implemented several regulations and taxes to promote renewable energy.  $PM_{2.5}$  concentration levels in Vietnam were higher in the north than in the south.  $PM_{2.5}$  level was the highest in the northern part of Vietnam in 2010 at about 52 µg/m<sup>3</sup> but decreased to 40 µg/m<sup>3</sup> in 2020. Since Vietnam is a typical predominantly agricultural country in Southeast Asia, agricultural activities and forest fires were closely associated with ambient PM concentration in cities in the north of the country according to past research.

In Vietnam, there was no significant relationship between ENSO or IOD events and air pollution changes, and there was not even a significant driving effect on precipitation in the region. Our finding was consistent with previous studies that reported ENSO had a weak effect on precipitation in the 2011 rainy season across the Indochina Peninsula, including Vietnam.

In the past 20 years, the total number of all-cause premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Vietnam was 1,618,314 (95% UI: 1,158,436-1,993,307), and the number of incidences was 20,397 (95% UI: 11,178-28,032) (in thousands). Stroke was the largest contributor to premature deaths due to  $PM_{2.5}$ , and LRI was the largest contributor to  $PM_{2.5}$  incidences in Vietnam. The total number of premature deaths and incidences due to  $PM_{2.5}$  in Vietnam showed a significant upward trend over the past 20 years, which was confirmed in previous studies.

# 6 **REFERENCE**

- Adame, J., Gutierrez-Alvarez, I., Cristofanelli, P., Notario, A., Bogeat, J., Bolivar, J., Yela, M., 2022. Surface ozone trends at El Arenosillo observatory from a new perspective. Environmental Research 214, 113887.
- Adon, A.J., Liousse, C., Doumbia, E.T., Baeza-Squiban, A., Cachier, H., Léon, J.-F., Yoboué, V., Akpo, A.B., Galy-Lacaux, C., Guinot, B., Zouiten, C., Xu, H., Gardrat, E., Keita, S., 2020. Physico-chemical characterization of urban aerosols from specific combustion sources in West Africa at Abidjan in Côte d'Ivoire and Cotonou in Benin in the frame of the DACCIWA program. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 20, 5327–5354. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-20-5327-2020
- Afroz, R., Hassan, M.N., Ibrahim, N.A., 2003. Review of air pollution and health impacts in Malaysia. Environmental Research 92, 71–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0013-9351(02)00059-2
- Aik, J., Heywood, A.E., Newall, A.T., Ng, L.-C., Kirk, M.D., Turner, R., 2018. Climate variability and salmonellosis in Singapore – A time series analysis. Science of The Total Environment 639, 1261–1267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.05.254
- Amirudin, A.A., Salimun, E., Tangang, F., Juneng, L., Zuhairi, M., 2020. Differential Influences of Teleconnections from the Indian and Pacific Oceans on Rainfall Variability in Southeast Asia. Atmosphere 11, 886. https://doi.org/10.3390/atmos11090886
- Amissah-Arthur, A., Jagtap, S., Rosenzweig, C., 2002. Spatio-temporal effects of El Niño events on rainfall and maize yield in Kenya. International Journal of Climatology 22, 1849–1860. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.858
- Anenberg, S.C., Talgo, K., Arunachalam, S., Dolwick, P., Jang, C., West, J.J., 2011. Impacts of global, regional, and sectoral black carbon emission reductions on surface air quality and human mortality. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 11, 7253–7267. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-11-7253-2011
- Ashok, K., Guan, Z., Yamagata, T., 2001. Impact of the Indian Ocean dipole on the relationship between the Indian monsoon rainfall and ENSO. Geophysical Research Letters 28, 4499– 4502. https://doi.org/10.1029/2001GL013294
- Awang, M.B., Jaafar, A.B., Abdullah, A.M., Ismail, M.B., Hassan, M.N., Abdullah, R., Johan, S., Noor, H., 2000. Air quality in Malaysia: impacts, management issues and future challenges. Respirology 5, 183–196.
- Barros, V.R., Dokken, D.J., Mach, K.J., Mastrandrea, M.D., Bilir, T.E., Chatterjee, M., Ebi, K.L., Estrada, Y.O., Genova, R.C., Girma, B., 2017. Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, CB Field and others (eds.), Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- Bauwelinck, M., Chen, J., de Hoogh, K., Katsouyanni, K., Rodopoulou, S., Samoli, E., Andersen, Z.J., Atkinson, R., Casas, L., Deboosere, P., Demoury, C., Janssen, N., Klompmaker, J.O., Lefebvre, W., Mehta, A.J., Nawrot, T.S., Oftedal, B., Renzi, M., Stafoggia, M., Strak, M., Vandenheede, H., Vanpoucke, C., Van Nieuwenhuyse, A., Vienneau, D., Brunekreef, B., Hoek, G., 2022. Variability in the association between long-term exposure to ambient air pollution and mortality by exposure assessment method and covariate adjustment: A census-based country-wide cohort study. Science of The Total Environment 804, 150091. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.150091
- Becerra, S., Belland, M., Bonnassieux, A., Liousse, C., 2020. 'Living with' air pollution in Abidjan (Cote d'Ivoire): a study of risk culture and silent suffering in three occupational areas. Health, Risk & Society 22, 86–106. https://doi.org/10.1080/13698575.2020.1721443
- Bickerstaff, K., 2004. Risk perception research: socio-cultural perspectives on the public experience of air pollution. Environment international 30, 827–840.
- Brauer, M., Hisham-Hashim, J., 1998. Peer reviewed: fires in Indonesia: crisis and reaction. Environmental science & technology 32, 404A-407A.
- Burnett, R.T., Pope, C.A., Ezzati, M., Olives, C., Lim, S.S., Mehta, S., Shin, H.H., Singh, G., Hubbell, B., Brauer, M., Anderson, H.R., Smith, K.R., Balmes, J.R., Bruce, N.G., Kan, H.,

Laden, F., Prüss-Ustün, A., Turner, M.C., Gapstur, S.M., Diver, W.R., Cohen, A., 2014. An Integrated Risk Function for Estimating the Global Burden of Disease Attributable to Ambient Fine Particulate Matter Exposure. Environ Health Perspect 122, 397–403. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1307049

- Chew, F., Goh, D., Ooi, B., Saharom, R., Hui, J., Lee, B., 1999. Association of ambient air-pollution levels with acute asthma exacerbation among children in Singapore. Allergy 54, 320–329.
- Chirasophon, S., Pochanart, P., 2020. The Long-term Characteristics of PM10 and PM2.5 in Bangkok, Thailand. ajae 14, 73–83. https://doi.org/10.5572/ajae.2020.14.1.073
- Chotichanathawewong, Q., Thongplew, N., 2012. Development Trajectories, Emission Profile, and Policy Actions: Thailand. SSRN Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2039215
- Chowdhury, S., Pozzer, A., Haines, A., Klingmüller, K., Münzel, T., Paasonen, P., Sharma, A., Venkataraman, C., Lelieveld, J., 2022. Global health burden of ambient PM2.5 and the contribution of anthropogenic black carbon and organic aerosols. Environment International 159, 107020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.107020
- Chuersuwan, N., Nimrat, S., Lekphet, S., Kerdkumrai, T., 2008. Levels and major sources of PM2. 5 and PM10 in Bangkok Metropolitan Region. Environment international 34, 671–677.
- Cohen, A.J., Brauer, M., Burnett, R., Anderson, H.R., Frostad, J., Estep, K., Balakrishnan, K., Brunekreef, B., Dandona, L., Dandona, R., Feigin, V., Freedman, G., Hubbell, B., Jobling, A., Kan, H., Knibbs, L., Liu, Y., Martin, R., Morawska, L., Pope, C.A., Shin, H., Straif, K., Shaddick, G., Thomas, M., van Dingenen, R., van Donkelaar, A., Vos, T., Murray, C.J.L., Forouzanfar, M.H., 2017. Estimates and 25-year trends of the global burden of disease attributable to ambient air pollution: an analysis of data from the Global Burden of Diseases Study 2015. The Lancet 389, 1907–1918. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30505-6

Department of the Environment, M., 1996. Malaysia Environmental Quality Report.

- Desai, B.H., 2017. 14. United Nations Environment Program (UNEP). Yearbook of International Environmental Law 28, 498–505.
- deSouza, P., 2020. Air pollution in Kenya: a review. Air Qual Atmos Health 13, 1487–1495. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11869-020-00902-x
- Emetere, M.E., Okoro, E.E., Sanni, S.E., 2019. 14-Years Aerosol Fingerprint Impact and Implications Over Daloa in Western Ivory Coast. Procedia Manufacturing, The 2nd International Conference on Sustainable Materials Processing and Manufacturing, SMPM 2019, 8-10 March 2019, Sun City, South Africa 35, 874–882. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2019.06.034
- Emmanuel, S.C., 2000. Impact to lung health of haze from forest fires: the Singapore experience. Respirology 5, 175–182.
- Engels, S., Fong, L.S.R.Z., Chen, Q., Leng, M.J., McGowan, S., Idris, M., Rose, N.L., Ruslan, M.S., Taylor, D., Yang, H., 2018. Historical atmospheric pollution trends in Southeast Asia inferred from lake sediment records. Environmental Pollution 235, 907–917. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.01.007
- Ezzati, M., Kammen, D.M., 2001. Indoor air pollution from biomass combustion and acute respiratory infections in Kenya: an exposure-response study. The Lancet 358, 619–624. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(01)05777-4
- Fakinle, B.S., Odekanle, E.L., Olalekan, A.P., Ije, H.E., Oke, D.O., Sonibare, J.A., 2020. Air pollutant emissions by anthropogenic combustion processes in Lagos, Nigeria. Cogent Engineering 7, 1808285. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311916.2020.1808285
- Fang, C., Zhu, B., Pan, C., Yun, X., Ding, D., Tao, S., 2020. Regional and Sectoral Sources for Black Carbon Over South China in Spring and Their Sensitivity to East Asian Summer Monsoon Onset. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 125, e2020JD033219. https://doi.org/10.1029/2020JD033219
- Feng, M., Meyers, G., 2003. Interannual variability in the tropical Indian Ocean: a two-year timescale of Indian Ocean Dipole. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 50, 2263–2284.
- Forsyth, T., 2014. Public concerns about transboundary haze: A comparison of Indonesia, Singapore, and Malaysia. Global Environmental Change 25, 76–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2014.01.013

- Fujii, Y., Iriana, W., Oda, M., Puriwigati, A., Tohno, S., Lestari, P., Mizohata, A., Huboyo, H.S., 2014. Characteristics of carbonaceous aerosols emitted from peatland fire in Riau, Sumatra, Indonesia. Atmospheric Environment 87, 164–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2014.01.037
- Gallardo, S.M., 2008. Air Pollution Studies in Metromanila and Catalysis Technology Towards Clean Air Philippines. Pure and Applied Geophysics.
- Gatari, M.J., Boman, J., 2003. Black carbon and total carbon measurements at urban and rural sites in Kenya, East Africa. Atmospheric Environment 37, 1149–1154. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1352-2310(02)01001-4
- Glasgow, M.L., Rudra, C.B., Yoo, E.-H., Demirbas, M., Merriman, J., Nayak, P., Crabtree-Ide, C., Szpiro, A.A., Rudra, A., Wactawski-Wende, J., Mu, L., 2016. Using smartphones to collect time–activity data for long-term personal-level air pollution exposure assessment. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol 26, 356–364. https://doi.org/10.1038/jes.2014.78
- Gnamien, S., Liousse, C., Veronique, Y., Ossohou, M., Keita, S., Julien, B., Silue, S., Gardrat, E., 2021a. Analysis of particulate pollution (PM10 and PM2.5 in the dry season in Abidjan and Korhogo (Cote d'Ivoire) (other). Atmospheric Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1002/essoar.10506489.1
- Gnamien, S., Yoboué, V., Liousse, C., Ossohou, M., Keita, S., Bahino, J., Siélé, S., Diaby, L., 2021b. Particulate Pollution in Korhogo and Abidjan (Cote d'Ivoire) during the Dry Season. Aerosol Air Qual. Res. 21, 200201. https://doi.org/10.4209/aaqr.2020.05.0201
- Goshua, A., Akdis, C.A., Nadeau, K.C., 2022. World Health Organization global air quality guideline recommendations: Executive summary. Allergy 77, 1955–1960. https://doi.org/10.1111/all.15224
- Gu, Y., Wong, T.W., Law, C.K., Dong, G.H., Ho, K.F., Yang, Y., Yim, S.H.L., 2018. Impacts of sectoral emissions in China and the implications: air quality, public health, crop production, and economic costs. Environ. Res. Lett. 13, 084008. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aad138
- Gu, Y., Yim, S.H.L., 2016. The air quality and health impacts of domestic trans-boundary pollution in various regions of China. Environment International 97, 117–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.08.004
- Guo, Y., Li, S., Tawatsupa, B., Punnasiri, K., Jaakkola, J.J.K., Williams, G., 2014. The association between air pollution and mortality in Thailand. Sci Rep 4, 5509. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep05509
- Hague, B.S., 2021. Seasonal climate summary for Australia and the southern hemisphere (summer 2018–19): extreme heat and flooding prominent. JSHESS 71, 147–158. https://doi.org/10.1071/ES20009
- Han, X., Naeher, L.P., 2006. A review of traffic-related air pollution exposure assessment studies in the developing world. Environment International 32, 106–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2005.05.020
- Haryanto, B., 2018. Climate Change and Urban Air Pollution Health Impacts in Indonesia, in: Akhtar, R., Palagiano, C. (Eds.), Climate Change and Air Pollution: The Impact on Human Health in Developed and Developing Countries, Springer Climate. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 215–239. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-61346-8\_14
- Haryanto, B., Franklin, P., 2011. Air pollution: a tale of two countries 26, 53–59. https://doi.org/10.1515/reveh.2011.008
- Hedley, A.J., Wong, C.-M., Thach, T.Q., Ma, S., Lam, T.-H., Anderson, H.R., 2002. Cardiorespiratory and all-cause mortality after restrictions on sulphur content of fuel in Hong Kong: an intervention study. The lancet 360, 1646–1652.
- Ho, A.F.W., Zheng, H., Cheong, K.H., En, W.L., Pek, P.P., Zhao, X., Morgan, G.G., Earnest, A., Tan, B.Y.Q., Ng, Y.Y., Foo, L.L., Ong, M.E.H., 2020. The Relationship Between Air Pollution and All-Cause Mortality in Singapore. Atmosphere 11, 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/atmos11010009
- Ho, A.F.W., Zheng, H., Earnest, A., Cheong, K.H., Pek, P.P., Seok, J.Y., Liu, N., Kwan, Y.H., Tan, J.W.C., Wong, T.H., Hausenloy, D.J., Foo, L.L., Tan, B.Y.Q., Ong, M.E.H., 2019. Time-Stratified Case Crossover Study of the Association of Outdoor Ambient Air Pollution With

the Risk of Acute Myocardial Infarction in the Context of Seasonal Exposure to the Southeast Asian Haze Problem. Journal of the American Heart Association 8, e011272. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.118.011272

- Hoesly, R.M., Smith, S.J., Feng, L., Klimont, Z., Janssens-Maenhout, G., Pitkanen, T., Seibert, J.J., Vu, L., Andres, R.J., Bolt, R.M., Bond, T.C., Dawidowski, L., Kholod, N., Kurokawa, J., Li, M., Liu, L., Lu, Z., Moura, M.C.P., O'Rourke, P.R., Zhang, Q., 2018. Historical (1750–2014) anthropogenic emissions of reactive gases and aerosols from the Community Emissions Data System (CEDS). Geosci. Model Dev. 11, 369–408. https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-11-369-2018
- Hooijer, A., Silvius, M., Wösten, H., Page, S., 2006. PEAT-CO2. Assessment of CO2 emissions from drained peatlands in SE Asia.
- Hu, D., Wu, L., Cai, W., Gupta, A.S., Ganachaud, A., Qiu, B., Gordon, A.L., Lin, X., Chen, Z., Hu, S., Wang, G., Wang, Q., Sprintall, J., Qu, T., Kashino, Y., Wang, F., Kessler, W.S., 2015. Pacific western boundary currents and their roles in climate. Nature 522, 299–308. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14504
- Huang, T., Li, Y., Cheng, J.C.H., Haywood, J., Hon, K.K., Lam, D.H.Y., Lee, O.S.M., Lolli, S., O'Connor, E.J., Lee, H.F., Wang, M., Yim, S.H.L., 2021. Assessing Transboundary-Local Aerosols Interaction Over Complex Terrain Using a Doppler LiDAR Network. Geophysical Research Letters 48, e2021GL093238. https://doi.org/10.1029/2021GL093238
- Jaenicke, J., Rieley, J.O., Mott, C., Kimman, P., Siegert, F., 2008. Determination of the amount of carbon stored in Indonesian peatlands. Geoderma 147, 151–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2008.08.008
- Jayachandran, S., 2009. Air Quality and Early-Life Mortality: Evidence from Indonesia's Wildfires. J. Human Resources 44, 916–954. https://doi.org/10.3368/jhr.44.4.916
- Jones, D.S., 2006. ASEAN and transboundary haze pollution in Southeast Asia. AEJ 4, 431–446. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10308-006-0067-1
- Kalita, G., Kunchala, R.K., Fadnavis, S., Kaskaoutis, D.G., 2020. Long term variability of carbonaceous aerosols over Southeast Asia via reanalysis: Association with changes in vegetation cover and biomass burning. Atmospheric Research 245, 105064. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosres.2020.105064
- Kannan, R., Leong, K., Osman, R., Ho, H., 2007. Life cycle energy, emissions and cost inventory of power generation technologies in Singapore. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 11, 702–715.
- Keita, S., Liousse, C., Assamoi, E.-M., Doumbia, T., N'Datchoh, E.T., Gnamien, S., Elguindi, N., Granier, C., Yoboué, V., 2021. African anthropogenic emissions inventory for gases and particles from 1990 to 2015. Earth System Science Data 13, 3691–3705. https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-13-3691-2021
- Keita, S., Liousse, C., Yoboué, V., Dominutti, P., Guinot, B., Assamoi, E.-M., Borbon, A., Haslett, S.L., Bouvier, L., Colomb, A., Coe, H., Akpo, A., Adon, J., Bahino, J., Doumbia, M., Djossou, J., Galy-Lacaux, C., Gardrat, E., Gnamien, S., Léon, J.F., Ossohou, M., N'Datchoh, E.T., Roblou, L., 2018. Particle and VOC emission factor measurements for anthropogenic sources in West Africa. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 18, 7691–7708. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-18-7691-2018
- Keyuraphan, S., Thanarak, P., Ketjoy, N., Rakwichian, W., 2012. Subsidy schemes of renewable energy policy for electricity generation in Thailand. Procedia Engineering, ISEEC 32, 440– 448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2012.01.1291
- Keywood, M.D., Ayers, G.P., Gras, J.L., Boers, R., Leong, C.P., 2003. Haze in the Klang Valley of Malaysia. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 15.
- Kirago, L., Gatari, M.J., Gustafsson, Ö., Andersson, A., 2022. Black carbon emissions from traffic contribute substantially to air pollution in Nairobi, Kenya. Commun Earth Environ 3, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-022-00400-1
- Klimont, Z., Smith, S.J., Cofala, J., 2013. The last decade of global anthropogenic sulfur dioxide: 2000–2011 emissions. Environ. Res. Lett. 8, 014003. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/8/1/014003

- Knippertz, P., Evans, M.J., Field, P.R., Fink, A.H., Liousse, C., Marsham, J.H., 2015. The possible role of local air pollution in climate change in West Africa. Nature Clim Change 5, 815–822. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2727
- Krupnick, A.J., Morgenstern, R.D., Fischer, C., Rolfe, K., Logarta, J., Rufo, B., 2003. Air pollution control policy options for Metro Manila.
- Kua, H.W., Wong, C.L., 2012. Analysing the life cycle greenhouse gas emission and energy consumption of a multi-storied commercial building in Singapore from an extended system boundary perspective. Energy and buildings 51, 6–14.
- Kurokawa, J., Ohara, T., 2020. Long-term historical trends in air pollutant emissions in Asia: Regional Emission inventory in ASia (REAS) version 3. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 20, 12761–12793. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-20-12761-2020
- Larson, P.S., Espira, L., Glenn, B.E., Larson, M.C., Crowe, C.S., Jang, S., O'Neill, M.S., 2022. Long-Term PM2.5 Exposure Is Associated with Symptoms of Acute Respiratory Infections among Children under Five Years of Age in Kenya, 2014. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 19, 2525. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19052525
- Lasko, K., Vadrevu, K.P., Nguyen, T.T.N., 2018. Analysis of air pollution over Hanoi, Vietnam using multi-satellite and MERRA reanalysis datasets. PLoS One 13, e0196629. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0196629
- Latif, M.T., Othman, M., Idris, N., Juneng, L., Abdullah, A.M., Hamzah, W.P., Khan, M.F., Nik Sulaiman, N.M., Jewaratnam, J., Aghamohammadi, N., Sahani, M., Xiang, C.J., Ahamad, F., Amil, N., Darus, M., Varkkey, H., Tangang, F., Jaafar, A.B., 2018. Impact of regional haze towards air quality in Malaysia: A review. Atmospheric Environment 177, 28–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2018.01.002
- Lelieveld, J., Klingmüller, K., Pozzer, A., Pöschl, U., Fnais, M., Daiber, A., Münzel, T., 2019. Cardiovascular disease burden from ambient air pollution in Europe reassessed using novel hazard ratio functions. European Heart Journal 40, 1590–1596. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehz135
- Lestari, P., Damayanti, S., Arrohman, M.K., 2020. Emission Inventory of Pollutants (CO, SO<sub>2</sub>, PM <sub>2.5</sub>, and NO<sub>X</sub>) In Jakarta Indonesia. IOP Conf. Ser.: Earth Environ. Sci. 489, 012014. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/489/1/012014
- Li, Z., Ho, K.-F., Dong, G., Lee, H.F., Yim, S.H.L., 2022. A novel approach for assessing the spatiotemporal trend of health risk from ambient particulate matter components: Case of Hong Kong. Environmental Research 204, 111866. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111866
- Liao, Z., Sun, J., Liu, J., Guo, S., Fan, S., 2018. Long-term trends in ambient particulate matter, chemical composition, and associated health risk and mortality burden in Hong Kong (1995– 2016). Air Qual Atmos Health 11, 773–783. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11869-018-0591-3
- Lim, C.-H., Ryu, J., Choi, Y., Jeon, S.W., Lee, W.-K., 2020. Understanding global PM2.5 concentrations and their drivers in recent decades (1998–2016). Environment International 144, 106011. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106011
- Liousse, C., Assamoi, E., Criqui, P., Granier, C., Rosset, R., 2014. Explosive growth in African combustion emissions from 2005 to 2030. Environ. Res. Lett. 9, 035003. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/9/3/035003
- Liousse, C., Guillaume, B., Grégoire, J.M., Mallet, M., Galy, C., Pont, V., Akpo, A., Bedou, M., Castéra, P., Dungall, L., Gardrat, E., Granier, C., Konaré, A., Malavelle, F., Mariscal, A., Mieville, A., Rosset, R., Serça, D., Solmon, F., Tummon, F., Assamoi, E., Yoboué, V., Van Velthoven, P., 2010. Updated African biomass burning emission inventories in the framework of the AMMA-IDAF program, with an evaluation of combustion aerosols. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 10, 9631–9646. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-10-9631-2010
- Lloyd, C.T., Chamberlain, H., Kerr, D., Yetman, G., Pistolesi, L., Stevens, F.R., Gaughan, A.E., Nieves, J.J., Hornby, G., MacManus, K., Sinha, P., Bondarenko, M., Sorichetta, A., Tatem, A.J., 2019. Global spatio-temporally harmonised datasets for producing high-resolution gridded population distribution datasets. Big Earth Data 3, 108–139. https://doi.org/10.1080/20964471.2019.1625151

- Lončar, D., Tyack, N.B., Krstić, V., Paunković, J., 2022. Methods for assessing the impact of PM2. 5 concentration on mortality while controlling for socio-economic factors. Heliyon 8, e10729.
- Macatangay, L.H., Hernandez, R.M., 2020. A Deep Learning-Based Prediction and Simulator of Harmful Air Pollutants: A Case from the Philippines. Presented at the 2020 11th IEEE Control and System Graduate Research Colloquium (ICSGRC), IEEE, pp. 381–386.
- Maesano, C.N., Kouadio, K., Kigninlman, H., Benaissa, F., Djossou, J., Bahino, J., Liousse, C., Annesi-Maesano, I., 2018. Domestic Fires for Cooking, Burning of Waste, and Motor Vehicle Emissions as Risk Factors for Increased Morbidity in Abidjan, Ivory Coast. Presented at the ISEE Conference Abstracts.
- Mansournia, M.A., Altman, D.G., 2018. Population attributable fraction. BMJ 360, k757. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.k757
- Mead, M.I., Castruccio, S., Latif, M.T., Nadzir, M.S.M., Dominick, D., Thota, A., Crippa, P., 2018. Impact of the 2015 wildfires on Malaysian air quality and exposure: a comparative study of observed and modeled data. Environ. Res. Lett. 13, 044023. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aab325
- Meehl, G.A., 1996. Vulnerability of freshwater resources to climate change in the tropical pacific region. Water Air Soil Pollut 92, 203–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00175566
- Mir Alvarez, C., Hourcade, R., Lefebvre, B., Pilot, E., 2020. A Scoping Review on Air Quality Monitoring, Policy and Health in West African Cities. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 17, 9151. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17239151
- Nduka, I.C., Huang, T., Li, Z., Yang, Y., Yim, S.H.L., 2022. Long-term trends of atmospheric hotand-polluted episodes (HPE) and the public health implications in the Pearl River Delta region of China. Environmental Pollution 311, 119782. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119782
- Nguyen, L.S.P., Hian-Wui Chang, J., Griffith, S.M., Hien, T.T., Soon-Kai Kong, S., Le, H.N., Huang, H.-Y., Sheu, G.-R., Lin, N.-H., 2022. Trans-boundary air pollution in a Southeast Asian megacity: Case studies of the synoptic meteorological mechanisms and impacts on air quality. Atmospheric Pollution Research 13, 101366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apr.2022.101366
- Nguyen, P.A., Abbott, M., Nguyen, T.L.T., 2019. The development and cost of renewable energy resources in Vietnam. Utilities Policy 57, 59–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jup.2019.01.009
- Nwachukwu, A., Chukwuocha, E., Igbudu, O., 2012. A survey on the effects of air pollution on diseases of the people of Rivers State, Nigeria. African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology 6, 371–379.
- Nwachukwu, A., Ugwuanyi, J., 2010. Air pollution and its possible health effects on rural dwellers in Rivers State, Nigeria. African Journal of Physics 3, 217–240.
- Nyangena, W., 2012. The Kenya Vision 2030 and the Environment: issues and challenges. Environment for Development (EfD-Kenya) 45–56.
- Ohara, T., Akimoto, H., Kurokawa, J., Horii, N., Yamaji, K., Yan, X., Hayasaka, T., 2007. An Asian emission inventory of anthropogenic emission sources for the period 1980–2020. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 26.
- Ong, H.C., Mahlia, T.M.I., Masjuki, H.H., 2011. A review on emissions and mitigation strategies for road transport in Malaysia. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 15, 3516–3522. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2011.05.006
- Osuji, L.C., Avwiri, G.O., 2005. Flared Gases and Other Pollutants Associated with Air Quality in Industrial Areas of Nigeria: An Overview. Chemistry & Biodiversity 2, 1277–1289. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbdv.200590099
- Paavola, J., 2017. Health impacts of climate change and health and social inequalities in the UK. Environmental Health 16, 61–68.
- Page, S.E., Siegert, F., Rieley, J.O., Boehm, H.-D.V., Jaya, A., Limin, S., 2002. The amount of carbon released from peat and forest fires in Indonesia during 1997. Nature 420, 61–65.
- Pai, S.J., Carter, T.S., Heald, C.L., Kroll, J.H., 2022. Updated World Health Organization air quality guidelines highlight the importance of non-anthropogenic PM2. 5. Environmental Science & Technology Letters 9, 501–506.
- Pennise, D.M., Smith, K.R., Kithinji, J.P., Rezende, M.E., Raad, T.J., Zhang, J., Fan, C., 2001. Emissions of greenhouse gases and other airborne pollutants from charcoal making in Kenya

and Brazil. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 106, 24143–24155. https://doi.org/10.1029/2000JD000041

- Permadi, D.A., Kim Oanh, N.T., Vautard, R., 2018. Assessment of emission scenarios for 2030 and impacts of black carbon emission reduction measures on air quality and radiative forcing in Southeast Asia. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 18, 3321–3334. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-18-3321-2018
- Perri, T., Weli, V.E., Poronakie, B., Bodo, T., 2021. Distribution of Respiratory Tracy Infectious Diseases in Relation to Particulate Matter (PM2.5) Concentration in Selected Urban Centres in Niger Delta Region of Nigeria. j. of geogr. res. 5. https://doi.org/10.30564/jgr.v5i1.3710
- Phairuang, W., Hata, M., Furuuchi, M., 2017. Influence of agricultural activities, forest fires and agroindustries on air quality in Thailand. Journal of Environmental Sciences 52, 85–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2016.02.007
- Phosri, A., Ueda, K., Phung, V.L.H., Tawatsupa, B., Honda, A., Takano, H., 2019. Effects of ambient air pollution on daily hospital admissions for respiratory and cardiovascular diseases in Bangkok, Thailand. Science of the total environment 651, 1144–1153.
- Phung, D., Hien, T.T., Linh, H.N., Luong, L.M., Morawska, L., Chu, C., Binh, N.D., Thai, P.K., 2016. Air pollution and risk of respiratory and cardiovascular hospitalizations in the most populous city in Vietnam. Science of the total environment 557, 322–330.
- Quimba, F.M.A., 2022. ASEAN-India Trade and Investment Relations: Perspectives from the Philippines, in: ASEAN and India. WORLD SCIENTIFIC, pp. 35–41. https://doi.org/10.1142/9789811262906\_0005
- Rahman, S.A., Hamzah, M.S., Elias, M.S., Salim, N.A.A., Hashim, A., Shukor, S., Siong, W.B., Wood, A.K., 2015. A Long Term Study on Characterization and Source Apportionment of Particulate Pollution in Klang Valley, Kuala Lumpur. Aerosol Air Qual. Res. 15, 2291–2304. https://doi.org/10.4209/aaqr.2015.03.0188
- Roomaney, R.A., Cairncross, E., Tesfaye, M., Kapwata, T., Abdulatif, N., Olivier, C., Mathibela, K., Cois, A., Neethling, I., Botai, J., Turawa, E.B., Awotiwon, O.F., Chetty, K., Nojilana, B., Wright, C.Y., Pacella, R., Bradshaw, D., Pillay-van Wyk, V., 2022. Estimating the burden of disease attributable to ambient air pollution (ambient PM2.5 and ambient ozone) in South Africa for 2000, 2006 and 2012. S Afr Med J 705–717. https://doi.org/10.7196/SAMJ.2022.v112i8b.16483
- Saji, N., Yamagata, T., 2003. Possible impacts of Indian Ocean Dipole mode events on global climate. Clim. Res. 25, 151–169. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr025151
- Saji, N.H., Goswami, B.N., Vinayachandran, P.N., Yamagata, T., 1999. A dipole mode in the tropical Indian Ocean. Nature 401, 360–363. https://doi.org/10.1038/43854
- Saji, N.H., Yamagata, T., 2003. Possible impacts of Indian Ocean Dipole mode events on global climate. Climate Research 25, 151–169. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr025151
- Sakti, A.D., Anggraini, T.S., Ihsan, K.T.N., Misra, P., Trang, N.T.Q., Pradhan, B., Wenten, I.G., Hadi, P.O., Wikantika, K., 2023. Multi-air pollution risk assessment in Southeast Asia region using integrated remote sensing and socio-economic data products. Science of The Total Environment 854, 158825. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.158825
- Sani, H., Kubota, T., Sumi, J., Surahman, U., 2022. Impacts of Air Pollution and Dampness on Occupant Respiratory Health in Unplanned Houses: A Case Study of Bandung, Indonesia. Atmosphere 13, 1272. https://doi.org/10.3390/atmos13081272
- Santoso, M., Lestiani, D.D., Kurniawati, S., Damastuti, E., Kusmartini, I., Atmodjo, D.P.D., Sari, D.K., Hopke, P.K., Mukhtar, R., Muhtarom, T., Tjahyadi, A., Parian, S., Kholik, N., Sutrisno, D.A., Wahyudi, D., Sitorus, T.D., Djamilus, J., Riadi, A., Supriyanto, J., Dahyar, N., Sondakh, S., Hogendorp, K., Wahyuni, N., Bejawan, I.G., Suprayadi, L.S., 2020. Assessment of Urban Air Quality in Indonesia. Aerosol Air Qual. Res. 20, 2142–2158. https://doi.org/10.4209/aaqr.2019.09.0451
- Senelwa, K.A., Hall, D.O., 1993. A biomass energy flow chart for Kenya. Biomass and Bioenergy 4, 35–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/0961-9534(93)90025-Y
- Sentian, J., Herman, F., Yih, C.Y., Hian Wui, J.C., 2019. Long-term air pollution trend analysis in Malaysia. Int. J. EI 2, 309–324. https://doi.org/10.2495/EI-V2-N4-309-324

- Setiawan, E.N., Maryudi, A., Purwanto, R.H., Lele, G., 2016. Opposing interests in the legalization of non-procedural forest conversion to oil palm in Central Kalimantan, Indonesia. Land Use Policy 58, 472–481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2016.08.003
- Shi, T., McAllister, D.A., O'Brien, K.L., Simoes, E.A.F., Madhi, S.A., Gessner, B.D., Polack, F.P., Balsells, E., Acacio, S., Aguayo, C., Alassani, I., Ali, A., Antonio, M., Awasthi, S., Awori, J.O., Azziz-Baumgartner, E., Baggett, H.C., Baillie, V.L., Balmaseda, A., Barahona, A., Basnet, S., Bassat, Q., Basualdo, W., Bigogo, G., Bont, L., Breiman, R.F., Brooks, W.A., Broor, S., Bruce, N., Bruden, D., Buchy, P., Campbell, S., Carosone-Link, P., Chadha, M., Chipeta, J., Chou, M., Clara, W., Cohen, C., de Cuellar, E., Dang, D.-A., Dash-yandag, B., Deloria-Knoll, M., Dherani, M., Eap, T., Ebruke, B.E., Echavarria, M., de Freitas Lázaro Emediato, C.C., Fasce, R.A., Feikin, D.R., Feng, L., Gentile, A., Gordon, A., Goswami, D., Goyet, S., Groome, M., Halasa, N., Hirve, S., Homaira, N., Howie, S.R.C., Jara, J., Jroundi, I., Kartasasmita, C.B., Khuri-Bulos, N., Kotloff, K.L., Krishnan, A., Libster, R., Lopez, O., Lucero, M.G., Lucion, F., Lupisan, S.P., Marcone, D.N., McCracken, J.P., Mejia, M., Moisi, J.C., Montgomery, J.M., Moore, D.P., Moraleda, C., Moyes, J., Munywoki, P., Mutyara, K., Nicol, M.P., Nokes, D.J., Nymadawa, P., da Costa Oliveira, M.T., Oshitani, H., Pandey, N., Paranhos-Baccalà, G., Phillips, L.N., Picot, V.S., Rahman, M., Rakoto-Andrianarivelo, M., Rasmussen, Z.A., Rath, B.A., Robinson, A., Romero, C., Russomando, G., Salimi, V., Sawatwong, P., Scheltema, N., Schweiger, B., Scott, J.A.G., Seidenberg, P., Shen, K., Singleton, R., Sotomayor, V., Strand, T.A., Sutanto, A., Sylla, M., Tapia, M.D., Thamthitiwat, S., Thomas, E.D., Tokarz, R., Turner, C., Venter, M., Waicharoen, S., Wang, J., Watthanaworawit, W., Yoshida, L.-M., Yu, H., Zar, H.J., Campbell, H., Nair, H., 2017. Global, regional, and national disease burden estimates of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children in 2015: a systematic review and modelling study. The Lancet 390, 946-958. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30938-8
- Shi, Y., Matsunaga, T., Yamaguchi, Y., Zhao, A., Li, Z., Gu, X., 2018. Long-term trends and spatial patterns of PM2.5-induced premature mortality in South and Southeast Asia from 1999 to 2014. Science of The Total Environment 631–632, 1504–1514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.146
- Shisanya, C.A., Recha, C., Anyamba, A., 2011. Rainfall Variability and Its Impact on Normalized Difference Vegetation Index in Arid and Semi-Arid Lands of Kenya. International Journal of Geosciences 2, 36–47. https://doi.org/10.4236/ijg.2011.21004
- Siregar, S., Idiawati, N., Pan, W.-C., Yu, K.-P., 2022. Association between satellite-based estimates of long-term PM2.5 exposure and cardiovascular disease: evidence from the Indonesian Family Life Survey. Environ Sci Pollut Res 29, 21156–21165. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-17318-4
- Sonibare, J.A., Jimoda, L.A., 2009. Criteria Air Pollutants from Some Anthropogenic Combustion Processes in Lagos, Nigeria. Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects 31, 923–935. https://doi.org/10.1080/15567030801904517
- Sooktawee, S., Humphries, U., Patpai, A., Kongsong, R., Boonyapitak, S., Piemyai, N., 2015. Visualization and Interpretation of PM10 Monitoring Data Related to Causes of Haze Episodes in Northern Thailand. App. Envi. Res. 33–48. https://doi.org/10.35762/AER.2015.37.2.3
- Sornpoon, W., Bonnet, S., Kasemsap, P., Prasertsak, P., Garivait, S., 2014. Estimation of Emissions from Sugarcane Field Burning in Thailand Using Bottom-Up Country-Specific Activity Data. Atmosphere 5, 669–685. https://doi.org/10.3390/atmos5030669
- Southerland, V.A., Brauer, M., Mohegh, A., Hammer, M.S., van Donkelaar, A., Martin, R.V., Apte, J.S., Anenberg, S.C., 2022. Global urban temporal trends in fine particulate matter (PM2·5) and attributable health burdens: estimates from global datasets. The Lancet Planetary Health 6, e139–e146. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(21)00350-8
- Stauffer, R.M., Thompson, A.M., Witte, J.C., 2018. Characterizing Global Ozonesonde Profile Variability From Surface to the UT/LS With a Clustering Technique and MERRA-2 Reanalysis. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 123, 6213–6229. https://doi.org/10.1029/2018JD028465

- Stibig, H.-J., Achard, F., Carboni, S., Raši, R., Miettinen, J., 2014. Change in tropical forest cover of Southeast Asia from 1990 to 2010. Biogeosciences 11, 247–258. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-11-247-2014
- Sulaymon, I.D., Mei, X., Yang, S., Chen, S., Zhang, Yang, Hopke, P.K., Schauer, J.J., Zhang, Yuanxun, 2020. PM2.5 in Abuja, Nigeria: Chemical characterization, source apportionment, temporal variations, transport pathways and the health risks assessment. Atmospheric Research 237, 104833. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosres.2019.104833
- Sultan, B., Janicot, S., 2003. The West African Monsoon Dynamics. Part II: The "Preonset" and "Onset" of the Summer Monsoon. J. Climate 16, 3407–3427. https://doi.org/10.1175/1520-0442(2003)016<3407:TWAMDP>2.0.CO;2
- Sumabat, A.K., Lopez, N.S., Yu, K.D., Hao, H., Li, R., Geng, Y., Chiu, A.S.F., 2016. Decomposition analysis of Philippine CO2 emissions from fuel combustion and electricity generation. Applied Energy 164, 795–804. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.12.023
- Sumarga, E., 2017. Spatial Indicators for Human Activities May Explain the 2015 Fire Hotspot Distribution in Central Kalimantan Indonesia. Tropical Conservation Science 10, 1940082917706168. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940082917706168
- Takahashi, H.G., Fujinami, H., Yasunari, T., Matsumoto, J., Baimoung, S., 2015. Role of Tropical Cyclones along the Monsoon Trough in the 2011 Thai Flood and Interannual Variability. Journal of Climate 28, 1465–1476. https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-14-00147.1
- Tangang, F.T., Juneng, L., Ahmad, S., 2007. Trend and interannual variability of temperature in Malaysia: 1961–2002. Theor. Appl. Climatol. 89, 127–141. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-006-0263-3
- Tantengco, O.A.G., Guinto, R.R., 2022. Tackling air pollution in the Philippines. The Lancet Planetary Health 6, e300.
- Thuong, D.T.H., Dang, T.N., Phosri, A., Siriwong, W., Dung, T.T.T., Vy, N.T.T., Kallawicha, K., 2022. Fine particulate matter and daily hospitalizations for mental and behavioral disorders: A time-series study in Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam. Environmental Research 213, 113707. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.113707
- Tseng, Y.-L., Wu, C.-H., Yuan, C.-S., Bagtasa, G., Yen, P.-H., Cheng, P.-H., 2021. Inter-comparison of chemical characteristics and source apportionment of PM2. 5 at two harbors in the Philippines and Taiwan. Science of The Total Environment 793, 148574.
- Uda, S.K., Hein, L., Atmoko, D., 2019. Assessing the health impacts of peatland fires: a case study for Central Kalimantan, Indonesia. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26, 31315–31327. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-06264-x
- Until, E., 2013. World Population Prospects: 2012 Revision. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs: New York, NY, USA.
- Urhie, E., Afolabi, Adesola, Afolabi, Adedeji, Matthew, O., Osabohien, R., Ewetan, O., 2020. Economic growth, air pollution and health outcomes in Nigeria: A moderated mediation model. Cogent Social Sciences 6, 1719570. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2020.1719570
- Vadrevu, K.P., Lasko, K., Giglio, L., Justice, C., 2014. Analysis of Southeast Asian pollution episode during June 2013 using satellite remote sensing datasets. Environmental Pollution 195, 245– 256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2014.06.017
- van Donkelaar, A., Hammer, M.S., Bindle, L., Brauer, M., Brook, J.R., Garay, M.J., Hsu, N.C., Kalashnikova, O.V., Kahn, R.A., Lee, C., Levy, R.C., Lyapustin, A., Sayer, A.M., Martin, R.V., 2021. Monthly Global Estimates of Fine Particulate Matter and Their Uncertainty. Environ. Sci. Technol. 55, 15287–15300. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c05309
- Van Oldenborgh, G.J., Van Urk, A., Allen, M., 2012. The absence of a role of climate change in the 2011 Thailand floods. Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc 93, 1047–1049.
- Velasco, E., Rastan, S., 2015. Air quality in Singapore during the 2013 smoke-haze episode over the Strait of Malacca: Lessons learned. Sustainable Cities and Society 17, 122–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2015.04.006
- Wambui, V., Njoka, F., Muguthu, J., Ndwali, P., 2022. Scenario analysis of electricity pathways in Kenya using Low Emissions Analysis Platform and the Next Energy Modeling system for optimization. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 168, 112871. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2022.112871
- Wang, S.X., Zhao, B., Cai, S.Y., Klimont, Z., Nielsen, C.P., Morikawa, T., Woo, J.H., Kim, Y., Fu, X., Xu, J.Y., Hao, J.M., He, K.B., 2014. Emission trends and mitigation options for air pollutants in East Asia. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 14, 6571–6603. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-14-6571-2014
- Warsini, S., Buettner, P., Mills, J., West, C., Usher, K., 2014. The Psychosocial Impact of the Environmental Damage Caused by the MT Merapi Eruption on Survivors in Indonesia. EcoHealth 11, 491–501. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-014-0937-8
- Weli, V.E., Chineze, G., 2017. ATMOSPHERIC AEROSOL LOADING OVER THE URBAN CANOPY OF PORT HARCOURT CITY AND ITS IMPLICATIONS FOR THE INCIDENCE OF OBSTRUCTIVE PULMONARY DISEASES.
- Weng, H., Ashok, K., Behera, S.K., Rao, S.A., Yamagata, T., 2007. Impacts of recent El Niño Modoki on dry/wet conditions in the Pacific rim during boreal summer. Clim Dyn 29, 113– 129. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-007-0234-0
- WH, O., 2005. World-Health-Organization. WHO Air Quality Guidelines for particular matter, ozone, dioxide and sulfur dioxide. Global update 2005. Summary of risk assessment. WHO Publications, Germany 74, 75.
- WHO, 2021. WHO global air quality guidelines: particulate matter (PM2.5 and PM10), ozone, nitrogen dioxide, sulfur dioxide and carbon monoxide.
- Wiggins, E.B., Czimczik, C.I., Santos, G.M., Chen, Y., Xu, X., Holden, S.R., Randerson, J.T., Harvey, C.F., Kai, F.M., Yu, L.E., 2018. Smoke radiocarbon measurements from Indonesian fires provide evidence for burning of millennia-aged peat. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 115, 12419–12424. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1806003115
- World Health Organization, 2021. WHO global air quality guidelines: particulate matter (PM2. 5 and PM10), ozone, nitrogen dioxide, sulfur dioxide and carbon monoxide: executive summary.
- Wu, B., Zhou, T., Li, T., 2009. Seasonally Evolving Dominant Interannual Variability Modes of East Asian Climate\*. Journal of Climate 22, 2992–3005. https://doi.org/10.1175/2008JCLI2710.1
- Wu, M., Luo, J., Huang, T., Lian, L., Chen, T., Song, S., Wang, Z., Ma, S., Xie, C., Zhao, Y., Mao, X., Gao, H., Ma, J., 2022. Effects of African BaP emission from wildfire biomass burning on regional and global environment and human health. Environment International 162, 107162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107162
- Xu, J., Tai, X., Betha, R., He, J., Balasubramanian, R., 2015. Comparison of physical and chemical properties of ambient aerosols during the 2009 haze and non-haze periods in Southeast Asia. Environ Geochem Health 37, 831–841. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10653-014-9667-7
- Yang, J., Liu, Q., Liu, Z., 2010. Linking Observations of the Asian Monsoon to the Indian Ocean SST: Possible Roles of Indian Ocean Basin Mode and Dipole Mode. Journal of Climate 23, 5889–5902. https://doi.org/10.1175/2010JCLI2962.1
- Yeo, B., Liew, C.F., Oon, H.H., 2014. Clinical experience and impact of a community-led volunteer atmospheric haze clinic in Singapore. Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health 45, 1448.
- Yim, S.H.L., Hou, X., Guo, J., Yang, Y., 2019. Contribution of local emissions and transboundary air pollution to air quality in Hong Kong during El Niño-Southern Oscillation and heatwaves. Atmospheric Research 218, 50–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosres.2018.10.021
- Yim, S.H.L., Huang, T., Ho, J.M.W., Lam, A.S.M., Yau, S.T.Y., Yuen, T.W.H., Dong, G.H., Tsoi, K.K.F., Sung, J.J.Y., 2022. Rise and fall of lung cancers in relation to tobacco smoking and air pollution: A global trend analysis from 1990 to 2012. Atmospheric Environment 269, 118835. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2021.118835
- Yin, S., Wang, X., Zhang, X., Guo, M., Miura, M., Xiao, Y., 2019. Influence of biomass burning on local air pollution in mainland Southeast Asia from 2001 to 2016. Environmental Pollution 254, 112949. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.07.117
- Yip, F., Christensen, B., Sircar, K., Naeher, L., Bruce, N., Pennise, D., Lozier, M., Pilishvili, T., Loo Farrar, J., Stanistreet, D., Nyagol, R., Muoki, J., de Beer, L., Sage, M., Kapil, V., 2017. Assessment of traditional and improved stove use on household air pollution and personal exposures in rural western Kenya. Environment International 99, 185–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.11.015

- Zimmer, A., Jakob, M., Steckel, J.C., 2015. What motivates Vietnam to strive for a low-carbon economy? On the drivers of climate policy in a developing country. Energy for Sustainable Development 24, 19–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esd.2014.10.003
  Zou, B., Wilson, J.G., Zhan, F.B., Zeng, Y., 2009. Air pollution exposure assessment methods utilized
- Zou, B., Wilson, J.G., Zhan, F.B., Zeng, Y., 2009. Air pollution exposure assessment methods utilized in epidemiological studies. J. Environ. Monit. 11, 475–490. https://doi.org/10.1039/B813889C